## GUT MICROBIAL METABOLITE, SODIUM BUTYRATE REGULATES THE BLOOD-BRAIN BARRIER TRANSPORT AND INTRA-ENDOTHELIAL ACCUMULATION OF ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE AMYLOID-BETA PEPTIDES

A DISSERTATION

# SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF THE UNIVERSITY OF

MINNESOTA

BY

## VAISHNAVI VEERAREDDY

IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS

FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

ADVISOR: KARUNYA K. KANDIMALLA

JAN 2024

©Vaishnavi Veerareddy

#### Acknowledgments

I sincerely appreciate all the individuals who played a crucial role in completing my master's thesis in pharmaceutical sciences at the University of Minnesota. First and foremost, I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to Dr. Karunya Kandimalla, my advisor, for guiding me throughout my journey. From the initial decision to accept me into the program, Dr. Kandimalla has inspired and deepened my passion for the field and cultivated a scientific mindset. Each step under Dr. Kandimalla's mentorship has shaped my academic and professional growth.

I thank my thesis defense committee members, Dr. Carolyn Fairbanks, and Dr. Purna Kashyap for your thought-provoking questions and valuable suggestions. I am also indebted to all Kandimalla lab members, especially Zengtao Wang for training me on all the lab techniques and serving as the point of contact for all the technical questions. Special thanks to Katie James and Amanda Hokanson for being the one-stop solution for all hurdles. I thank the Department of Pharmaceutics for all the programs organized to increase engagement and collaboration; I am sure they helped me.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents (Dr. Prabhakar Reddy, Anitha), sister (Vyshali), and spouse (Akhil Bandi) for the countless moments of understanding and patience during the demanding phases of this journey. This list will be incomplete without friends in the US, India, and others not explicitly mentioned.

#### ABSTRACT

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is a common type of dementia observed in the elderly with brain amyloid beta (Aβ) deposits as one of its pathological hallmarks. Risk factors contributing to AD include age, genetics, inflammation, gut dysbiosis, and co-morbidities like diabetes, hypertension, and insulin resistance<sup>1</sup>. Recent studies have highlighted the necessity of investigating the combined effect of risk factors on AD onset and progression<sup>2</sup>. In addition, a majority of AD patients are diagnosed with cerebrovascular dysfunction, which is considered to be a significant contributor to the disease progression<sup>3</sup>. Moreover, the gut microbiome diversity was shown to be diminished in AD patients<sup>4</sup>. One of the interactions between the gut and the brain is mediated by gut microbial metabolites through the gut-brain axis<sup>5</sup>. Gut microbial metabolites include mainly short-chain fatty acids (acetate, propionate, butyrate) and trimethylamine N-oxide (TMAO)<sup>6</sup>. Particularly, butyrate treatment was shown to improve impaired cognition and reduce A<sup>β</sup> deposition in the AD brain, although the underlying mechanisms are yet to be characterized<sup>7</sup>. Previously, we reported the impact of insulin signaling on A $\beta$  trafficking between the brain and the blood via the blood-brain barrier (BBB), which lines the cerebrovascular lumen and regulates A $\beta$  levels in the brain<sup>8</sup>. However, the effect of gut microbiome metabolites on AB trafficking/accumulation at the BBB and endothelial insulin signaling remains unknown. In this study, we investigated the effect of one of the bacterial metabolites, sodium butyrate (NaBu), on A $\beta$  accumulation at the BBB endothelium and the role of endothelial insulin signaling. The NaBu decreased A $\beta$ 40 with 6 h treatment and Aβ42 accumulation upon 2 h and 6 h treatments in BBB cell (hCMEC/D3) monolayers in vitro. Moreover, NaBu increased the phosphorylation of protein kinase B (PKB/AKT) and extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) upon 6 h treatment. Inhibitor studies were conducted to evaluate if NaBu effect on A $\beta$  accumulation at the BBB is regulated by insulin signaling. Treatment with AKT inhibitor (MK2206) and NaBu increased A $\beta$ 42 accumulation compared to the NaBu alone treated group. Similarly, treatment with MEK inhibitor (trametinib) and NaBu increased A $\beta$ 42 accumulation compared to the NaBu-treated group. These findings suggest the involvement of AKT and ERK pathways in NaBu-mediated changes in A $\beta$ 42 accumulation at the BBB. Also, NaBu affects the expression of transporters and receptors at the BBB. The NaBu treatment increased permeability glycoprotein (P-gp) and decreased receptors for advanced glycated end products (RAGE) compared to the A $\beta$  treated group. Further, studies need to be conducted to elucidate mechanisms underlying NaBu effect on the BBB endothelium in AD.

**Keywords:** Alzheimer's, A $\beta$ , Blood-brain barrier, dysbiosis, sodium butyrate, Insulin signaling, P-gp, RAGE.

## **Table of contents**

List of Figuresvi
List of Tablesvi
1. Introduction1
1.1 Alzheimer's disease1
1.2 Blood-brain barrier Dysfunction in Alzheimer's
1.3 Risk Factors6
1.3.1 Age, Genetics
1.3.2 Dysbiosis7
1.3.2.1 Gut-Brain axis8
1.3.2.2 Gut microbial metabolites10
1.3.2.3 Association of AD and Dysbiosis13
1.3.3 Insulin Resistance14
1.3.4 Cerebrovascular Inflammation16
1.4 Effect of Short-chain Fatty Acid- Butyrate in AD17
1.5 Hypothesis19
1.6 Specific aim19
1.7 Scientific rationale19
2. Materials and Methods20
2.1 Cell culture20
2.2 Aβ40/42 film preparation and reconstitution21

	2.3 Memb	prane fractionation	22
	2.4 Flow	cytometry	23
	2.5 Weste	rn blot	23
	2.6 Statist	ical analysis	24
3.	Results		25
	3.1 Sodiun	n Butyrate Effect on BBB	25
	3.1.1	Decreased Aβ40/42 accumulation hCMEC/D3	25
	3.1.2	Decreased Aβ42 accumulation in bovine primary cells	26
	3.1.3	Decrease in MCT1 expression by Aβ42.	28
	3.1.4	Effect of NaBu on phosphorylation of AKT, ERK	29
	3.2 Effect	of Insulin signaling inhibitors on A $\beta$ 42 accumulation in hCMEC/D3 cells	31
	3.2.1	Effect of AKT inhibitor, MK2206	32
	3.2.2	Effect of MEK inhibitor, Trametinib	34
	3.3 Effect	of NaBu on transporters/ proteins at BBB in hCMEC/D3 cells	36
4	Discussion		38
5	Bibliography		43

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Blood Blood-brain barrier (BBB) structure5
Figure 2: Representation of the Gut-Brain axis in health and disease
Figure 3: Aβ42 accumulation in BBME cells27
Figure 4: Decreased MCT1 expression in A $\beta$ 42 treated hCMEC/D3 cell monolayers as
shown by Western blot
Figure 5: Effect of NaBu on insulin signaling pathway in hCMEC/D3 whole cell lysates30
Figure 6: Proposed mechanism for NaBu action in hCMEC/D3 cells
Figure 7: Effect of AKT inhibitor, MK2206 on NaBu-mediated intracellular Aβ42 uptake in hCMEC/D3 cells
Figure 8: Effect of MEK inhibitor, Trametinib on NaBu-mediated intracellular Aβ42 uptake
in hCMEC/D3 cells
Figure 9: Butyrate effect on transporters/receptors in hCMEC/D3 total membrane lysates37

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Gut microbiome species, metabolites, and	d CNS effect12	2
Table 2: FITC-Aβ40 or Aβ42 accumulation in hC	MEC/D3 cells20	5

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Alzheimer's disease

Alzheimer's disease is the most common dementia observed in the elderly above 65 years. The AD is an irreversible and progressive neurodegenerative disease<sup>9</sup>, clinically characterized by the presence of parenchymal amyloid beta (A $\beta$ ) protein plaque deposition and intracellular hyperphosphorylated tau protein. In addition, it is marked by synapse loss, neuronal dystrophy, vascular alterations, etc. A $\beta$  is produced by the proteolytic cleavage of  $\beta$ -amyloid precursor protein (APP) by  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  secretases through the amyloidogenic pathway<sup>10</sup>. Major isoforms of A $\beta$  include A $\beta$ 40 and A $\beta$ 42 with A $\beta$ 42 dominant in toxic plaque deposition. Based on the onset age and cause of the disease, it is mainly categorized as early onset (familial) and late-onset (sporadic)<sup>11</sup>.

#### i. Early onset AD:

Early onset AD is observed in younger individuals with genetic mutations in (APP), presenilin 1 (PSEN1), and presenilin 2 (PSEN2) genes inherited in an autosomal-dominant manner which constitutes  $5\%^{12}$ , <sup>1,13</sup>. The APP is cleaved by PSEN1, and PSEN2 at different regions to produce  $\beta$ -amyloid protein which is majorly deposited in the AD brain. Changes in the genetic sequence or expression of these genes may elevate the risk of disease by increasing the production and aggregation of amyloid beta (A $\beta$ )<sup>14</sup>. APOE4 mutation showed increased accumulation of iron and fibrinogen along with a decrease in A $\beta$  clearance in AD patient brains<sup>15</sup>. Also, it is associated with BBB disruption<sup>16</sup>. This data suggests that in AD, factors that promote the production of A $\beta$  and reduce its clearance are inherently heightened with acquired genetic mutations from AD affected individuals, rendering them more susceptible to the disease.

#### ii. Late-onset:

Late-onset AD is observed in adults above 65 years and accounts for 95% of total AD cases. It is believed to result from a combination of events like genetics. environment, lifestyle dysbiosis. co-morbidities-(gut hypertension, diabetes mellitus, obesity), and exposure (cerebrovascular disease, injury). Genome-wide association studies reveal that the genes associated with high risk of AD include Apolipoprotein (APOE) £4, £3 isoforms, ABCA7, MS4A6E, TREM2 R47H, Bridging integrator 1 (BIN1), Phosphatidylinositol binding clathrin assembly protein (PICALM). The APOE promotes the clearance of  $A\beta$  by coordinating with the LRP1 efflux transporter and is also involved in lipoprotein metabolism<sup>13</sup>. The ABCA7 and the MS4A6E messenger RNA expression correlated with plaque burden and cognitive decline in AD brain<sup>17</sup>. The TREM carriers have increased brain atrophy and correlated with cerebrospinal fluid tau levels compared to control subjects<sup>3</sup>. The BIN1 is involved in endocytosis and trafficking, immune response and single nucleotide polymorph causes dysregulated

APP processing<sup>13</sup>. The PICALM is a part of clathrin assembly mediating lipid endocytosis and its overexpression increased plaque burden in AD transgenic mice<sup>12,18</sup>. Recent advancements in genomic sequencing and bioinformatic analysis allow us to assess the impact caused by these various risk factors on AD onset, severity, and progression.

#### 1.2 Blood-brain barrier Dysfunction in Alzheimer's

The blood-brain barrier (BBB) endothelium is at the interface between the brain parenchyma and plasma. The BBB endothelium works in coordination with pericytes, astrocytes, and neurons to regulate neurovascular regulation and function. The BBB endothelial cells are interconnected with tight junctions and junctional adhesion molecules like claudin, occluding, zona occluding (ZO), and vascular endothelial cadherin (VE-Cadherin) which prevent paracellular transport of substances microbes, microbial peptides, toxins, and xenobiotics<sup>19</sup> (Figure 1). Alternatively, the transport of small nutrients like glucose, oxygen, and amino acids is carried out through a network of polarized transporters as well as the delivery of large endogenous molecules such as lipoproteins and insulin via carrier-mediated endocytosis<sup>20</sup>. Pericytes provide structural support to endothelial cells and assist in controlling blood flow by regulating capillary diameter. Functionally, it helps to phagocyte toxic substances and protects against apoptosis<sup>19</sup>. Loss or injury of pericytes is reported in many neurological diseases including AD<sup>21-23</sup>. Astrocytes are crucial in maintaining ionic homeostasis, pH regulation, neurotransmitter uptake, synaptic activity, etc<sup>24</sup>. Tight junctions like claudin, occludin, and junctional adhesion molecules (VE-

Cadherin), with cytoplasmic proteins zona occludens-1, 2, 3, etc., are connected to cell cytoskeleton actin to maintain the integrity of the barrier<sup>19</sup>.

In majority of the AD patients, the BBB is compromised by the loss of pericytes, disruption of astrocytes, tight junctions, and adherent junctions resulting in the infiltration of inflammatory cytokines, immune cells, and microbes into the brain<sup>24</sup>. These conditions aggravate amyloid beta deposition, formation of neurofibrillary tangles, inflammation, neurodegeneration, and ultimately cognitive decline. A decrease in glucose transport, and downregulation of glucose transporter was reported<sup>20</sup>. A  $\beta$  accumulation increases the activation of microglia, expression of vascular adhesion proteins, and release of inflammatory cytokines like TNF-, IL-1, and IL-6 nitric oxide synthetase (NOS) which disrupts BBB integrity<sup>25</sup>. In addition, A $\beta$  accumulation disrupts the synthesis and degradation of collagen IV, a basement membrane component, and leads to the loss of microvascular integrity, resulting in microhemorrhages. The A $\beta$  deposits decrease tight junction proteins such as claudin-5 and occludin in endothelial cells and inhibiting RAGE ameliorated the A $\beta$  effect, indicating the role of RAGE in facilitating A $\beta$  deposition<sup>26</sup>. These literature reports suggest that cerebrovascular dysfunction is a leading contributor for AD exacerbation and could serve as major biomarker in disease prognosis.



**Figure 1: Blood Blood-brain barrier (BBB) structure.** BBB is the physiological barrier separating blood from the brain parenchyma. The BBB is primarily made of polarized endothelial cell monolayer, which works in coordination with pericytes, astrocytes, and neurons. Endothelial cells are connected with tight junctions and adherent junctions. These junctions are regulated by tight junction proteins (claudin, occludin), cytoplasmic accessory proteins (zona occludens-1, 2, 3, cingulin), adherent junctional protein (vascular endothelial cadherin, VE-Cadherin) connected to the actin cytoskeleton<sup>19</sup>. The luminal side of the BBB endothelium expresses efflux transporters such as P-gp, which contributes to the barrier integrity of the BBB. In addition, the BBB endothelium has transporters and

receptors and transporters to transport solutes between plasma and the brain selectively. Created with BioRender.com.

#### **1.3 Risk Factors**

The most common risk factors for Alzheimer's include old age, genetic mutations, gut dysbiosis, insulin resistance, and inflammation. Moreover, recent evidence from epidemiological and clinical studies suggests metabolic syndrome as one of the major risk factor factors for AD. <sup>27–30</sup>

#### 1.3.1. Age, Genetics

Primarily, the population above 65 years is highly prone to Alzheimer's. Aging causes several physiological changes in the body including genetic susceptibility, decreased immune response, increased inflammation, endothelial dysfunction, and decreased gut microbiome diversity. Changes in DNA methylation is highly observed in the elderly and are correlated with age and cognitive decline. Histone acetylation declined in human and mouse models with age and inhibiting it restored cognitive deficits<sup>31,32</sup>. Brain aging is also characterized by altered signaling and senescent organelles<sup>33</sup>.

Genetic factors play a role in the inheritance of both early and lateonset AD. Techniques to understand genetic susceptibility include- Nextgeneration sequencing and genome-wide association studies. These studies revealed the genes associated with processes like changes in  $\beta$ -amyloid precursor protein (APP), lipid metabolism (ABCA7), immune regulation (CR1, CD33, MS4A, TREM2), etc<sup>13,34</sup>. The next prominent factor is the inheritance of mutated APP, PSEN1, PSEN2, and APOE  $\varepsilon$ 4,  $\varepsilon$ 4 genes<sup>12</sup>.

#### 1.3.2 Dysbiosis

The human gut is the residence of thousands of microbial species with 7000 strains collectively called gut microbiome. Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes are dominant bacterial families<sup>35</sup>. Firmicutes have gram-positive and negative species and Bacteroidetes comprises gram-negative bacteria<sup>36</sup>. The gut microbiome is widely known to be involved in the digestion of ingested fibers in the colon. The gut microbiome has been acknowledged to regulate intestinal and BBB integrity and promote anti-inflammatory as well as antioxidant properties. Increase in Verrucomicrobia, and Akkermansia are correlated with reduced inflammation and metabolic dysfunction<sup>33,37</sup>. In addition, the gut microbiota impacts various gut functions including digestion of carbohydrates, vitamins, neurotransmitter synthesis, xenobiotic metabolism, and strengthening barrier function by releasing metabolites into the systemic circulation to maintain the gut-brain axis<sup>5</sup>. Imbalance in the diversity and proportion of microbiome due to diet, sedentary lifestyle, sleep deprivation, and oxidative stress can result in dysbiosis<sup>37</sup>. A recent study has demonstrated significant differences in the gut microbiome of younger and elderly Indonesians. Major species in youngsters were *Bifidobacterium* (acetic and lactic acids), *Bacteroides* (acetic acid and propionic acid), *Clostridium* (short chain fatty acids)<sup>38</sup>, *and Prevotella* (linked to glucose and insulin sensitivity along with inflammation<sup>39</sup>) and elderly were *Enterobacteriaceae* (inflammation, bile acid dysmetabolism)<sup>40</sup> and *Escherichia coli* (vitamin B1, B2, K)<sup>41</sup>. This indicates the role of age in modulating the gut microbiome species.

#### 1.3.2.1Gut-Brain axis

The gut-brain axis is a bi-directional pathway through which the gut and brain communicate. The gut is controlled by an independent system of neuronal circuitry called the enteric nervous system. The brain also regulates the gut function (motility, mucus production, etc.) via sympathetic or parasympathetic signaling<sup>5</sup>. The gut modulates the brain function by synthesizing and releasing hormones, neurotransmitters/modulators like serotonin, dopamine, and microbial metabolites like short-chain fatty acids into circulation. These neurotransmitters like serotonin, acetylcholine, and noradrenaline regulate sleep and cognition. The activity of other metabolites on CNS is listed in **Table 1**<sup>6,42</sup>. A Healthy gut promotes the release of antioxidative metabolites, whereas, in dysbiosis, inflammatory cytokine production is upregulated leading to disruptive barrier function, which is prevalent in neurodegenerative diseases. Studies conducted in germ-free

mice have implicated the role of gut microbiome in the early brain development of the offspring and its impact on neurogenesis at the later stages<sup>43</sup>.



**Figure 2: Representation of the Gut-Brain axis in health and disease.** The gut and brain exert an effect on each other by direct neural connection, endocrine mediators, and immune mediators via a bi-directional pathway called the Gut-Brain axis (GBA). In the healthy individual, a diverse microbiome (Eubiosis) promotes the release of dopamine, acetylcholine, serotonin, GABA, and SCFA into the systemic circulation, thus enhancing strong intestinal and brain barriers along with a role in sleep, cognition, etc. However, in pathological conditions, the diversity of the gut microbiome is altered promoting the release of amyloid protein, curli amyloid, inflammatory cytokines, lipopolysaccharide

(LPS), trimethyl amine N-oxide (TMAO) into the blood causing leaky gut barrier, dysfunctional BBB, inflammation.

#### 1.3.2.2 Gut microbial metabolites

The gut microbiome in a healthy individual is diverse and is in symbiosis with the host (eubiosis). The eubiotic microbiome synthesizes various neurotransmitters (Acetylcholine, noradrenaline, gamma amino butyric acid, serotonin), vitamins (K2, B1-3, B5-7, B9, B12), bacterial metabolites (short chain fatty acids, SCFA). However, a dysbiotic microbiome produces harmful substances such as inflammatory cytokines, bacterial amyloids, and endotoxins such as LPS. As mentioned earlier, neurotransmitters regulate CNS responses. The SCFAs like acetate, propionate, and butyrate are produced by the fermentation of ingested fibers by anaerobic bacteria. They play a crucial role in maintaining gut barrier integrity, immune modulation, weight control, etc.<sup>44</sup>. Table 1 shows information about gut microbial species, their metabolites, and their effects on the CNS.

The gut microbiome diversity is decreased under pathological conditions engendered by chronic infections, inflammation, prolonged antibiotic usage, stress, imbalanced diet, chronic intestinal conditions like irritable bowel syndrome, and obesity. In these conditions, the proportion of the microbiome that produces inflammatory cytokines, bacterial amyloid curli, lipopolysaccharide, trimethylamine N-oxide (TMAO), bile acids, and tryptophan derivatives is increased. Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is the component of bacterial cell wall in gram-negative bacteria which acts as endotoxin<sup>45</sup>. An increase in the gram-negative bacterial population proportionally increases the LPS in the gut and in the blood, thus promoting systemic inflammation, damage to blood vessels, and septic shock <sup>2,46–48</sup>. The LPS causes elevated brain cytokine levels and disruption of the BBB. TMAO is produced by the fermentation of choline-rich food by the gut microbiome and further transformation in the liver. Elevated levels of TMAO were shown to correlate with an increased risk of cardiac problems, and endothelial inflammation. Bacterial amyloid curli, produced by Salmonella enterica, and Bacillus subtilis<sup>49,50</sup> was shown to upregulate amyloid production in the brain neurons<sup>37</sup>. Also, it cross-seeds other amyloid produced in the gut to form  $\beta$  secondary structure mimicking the brain A $\beta$ . High levels of A $\beta$ 40, 42 were reported in the gut in the endothelial cells<sup>51-53</sup>. Elevated amyloid burden was reported to initiate proinflammatory markers production with an increase in reactive oxygen species levels 54,47,48,55.

## Table 1: Gut microbiome species, metabolites, and CNS effect

Gut microbiome	Metabolites	CNS effect	References
Bacteroides, Prevotella	Lipopolysaccharide	Promotes pro-inflammatory transcription factor	45
	(LPS)	NFκB, in AD progression in microglial cells	
Bacillus, Escherichia, Lactobacillus,	Dopamine	Neurotransmitter controls cognition, emotion,	56,57
Lactococcus, and Streptococcus		locomotion	
Escherichia, Enterococcus,	Serotonin	Regulates sleep, cognition	6
Lactobacillus, and Streptococcus			
Lactobacillus and Bacillus	Acetylcholine	Plays role in cognition, attention, involuntary	42
		muscle movement	
Bacillus spp.	Noradrenaline/	Regulates cognition, stress, attention, and	58
	Norepinephrine	arousal reactions	
Bacteroides, Bifidobacterium,	Short-chain fatty	Promotes synthesis and secretion of	6,58
Propionibacterium, Eubacterium,	acids	neurotransmitters, increases BBB permeability	
Lactobacillus, Roseburia, Prevotella			
Lactobacillus, Lactococcus,	Histamine	Regulates sleep, cognition, feeding, and energy	59
Streptococcus, and Enterococcus			
Bifidobacterium and Lactobacillus	γ-aminobutyric acid	Inhibitory neurotransmitters required to regulate	60
	(GABA)	neuronal activity	

#### **1.3.2.3** Association of AD and Dysbiosis

Recently many studies have shown the importance of healthy gut microbiomes in maintaining brain health. This led to the exploration of microbial species and metabolite relationships in co-morbidities like obesity, diabetes, and cardiovascular disease as they are established risk factors for sporadic AD<sup>36,5</sup>. They led to a renewed focus on investigating the difference in the microbiome of AD vs non-AD subjects<sup>61,62</sup>. Efforts to establish causality are being considered by perturbing the microbiome in AD transgenic mouse models, such as APP/PS1 mice, and investigating alterations in AD pathological features. Such studies have shown that in APP/PS1 mice, a decrease in A $\beta$  plaque deposition and inflammation in the brain were observed following antibiotics and prebiotics administration respectively<sup>63,64</sup>. *Bifidobacterium* improved memory deficits induced by Aβ administration in AD rat model<sup>65</sup>. Enterobacteria infection had increased innate gut inflammation in the drosophila AD model<sup>66</sup>. perturbations in the enteric nervous system which regulates the gut have been shown to enhance Aβ accumulation and neuronal loss in APP transgenic mice which makes it more susceptible to inflammation<sup>67</sup>. This suggests the indirect relation between the gut and the brain. Apart from animal studies, even clinical data has shown the correlation between gut microbial composition and AD pathology. In post-mortem AD brains, elevated levels of bacterial LPS were co-localized with A $\beta$  plaque depositions<sup>68</sup>. In live AD patients, a decrease

in *Firmicutes, Eubacterium, Bifidobacterium* and an increase in *Bacteriodetes, Proteobacteria*, etc., were observed<sup>69</sup>. Moreover, an increase in *Porphyromonas gingivalis* is correlated with elevated A $\beta$  plaques and neurofibrillary tangles <sup>70</sup>.

The prevalence of dementia and relevant risk factors were compared among various populations. The incidence of dementia is higher in the Japanese-Brazilian elderly population compared to the native Japanese. Japanese have high levels of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) in their plasma which inversely correlates with dementia cases<sup>71</sup>. Consequently, PUFA has been linked to a decline in dementia cases attributed to its antiinflammatory properties. However, closer examination of the intricate details show that PUFA increases the abundance of butyrate-producing bacteria like *Bifidobacterium, Lachnospira, Lactobacillus*, etc. thereby elevating the butyrate levels in the plasma, a phenomenon often overlooked<sup>72</sup>. Also, butyrate enhances insulin sensitivity in mice<sup>73</sup>. These broad-based findings emphasize the complex interplay between gut microbiome and brain health, thus opening opportunities for potential therapeutic interventions in the prevention and management of AD.

#### **1.3.3 Insulin Resistance**

According to the Rotterdam study, diabetes nearly doubles the risk of dementia and AD<sup>4</sup>. Also, dementia was strongly associated with increased body mass index or

abdominal obesity with altered neural tissue and decreased blood perfusion to the brain<sup>74–76</sup>. Insulin plays a critical role in metabolic homeostasis by regulating glucose, energy, and fatty acid synthesis. Insulin levels in the brain and plasma are correlated indicating the derivatization of insulin from blood circulation. Peripherally, a decrease in insulin sensitivity leads to elevated blood glucose levels called insulin resistance<sup>77</sup>. Similarly, brain insulin resistance could be due to the incapability of brain cells to respond to insulin either due to downregulation or reduced binding to the receptor<sup>78</sup>. Insulin and insulin-like growth hormone signaling pathways regulate A $\beta$  homeostasis in the brain<sup>9</sup>. Insulin resistance is implicated in augmenting A $\beta$  deposition and A $\beta$  exposure has been shown to worsen insulin resistance<sup>8,79</sup>. Increased accumulation of peripheral adipose tissue releases adipokines and inflammatory cytokines to systemic circulation which enter the brain and lead to insulin resistance and perturbed lipid metabolism resulting in A $\beta$  accumulation and plaque formation<sup>80</sup>.

Amyloid beta proteins were shown to decrease cell surface insulin receptors and contribute to insulin resistance<sup>81</sup>. Insulin signaling via MEK and ERK pathways was shown to alter amyloid beta production, clearance, and accumulation in the cells<sup>82</sup>. Insulin degrading enzyme (IDE) degrades A $\beta$ , however, its levels are decreased under insulin resistance leading to higher A $\beta$  accumulation<sup>83</sup>. Insulin resistance and high blood glucose levels can induce inflammation<sup>84</sup>. The intricate role of insulin, A $\beta$  homeostasis and neurodegenerative processes emphasizes the importance of addressing lifestyle, body weight, and body mass to maintain optimal brain health.

#### **1.3.4 Cerebrovascular Inflammation**

The cerebrovascular unit is crucial in maintaining brain homeostasis by regulating the access of pro and anti-inflammatory mediators along with other transport and signaling functions. Elevation of pro-inflammatory cytokines in brain injury or in other conditions can be a potential risk factor for several neurological disorders like AD, and Parkinson's disease<sup>85</sup>. Inflammatory cytokines are found to be co-localized with amyloid beta plaques and are believed to be closely associated with AD pathology<sup>86</sup>. In addition, inflammatory cytokines are known to increase A $\beta$  load by increasing the APP production<sup>87</sup>, and tau hyper-phosphorylation by upregulating CDK5 activation via IL-6<sup>46</sup>. Microbiota influences microglia maturation in germ-free mice potentially through short-chain fatty acids. Similarly, other metabolites from tryptophan metabolism can modulate inflammation in the brain and periphery<sup>5</sup>. Recently in AD mouse studies, A $\beta$  was identified as a protective antimicrobial peptide<sup>88,89</sup>, which is it turned disruptive in a dysregulated state resulting in inflammation<sup>88,89</sup>. Amyloid beta plaques activate the surrounding microglia and stimulate the release of inflammatory cytokines through astrocytes. Amyloid beta also activates nuclear factor- $\kappa B$  (NF- $\kappa B$ ) to enhance the transcription of inflammatory molecules<sup>25</sup>. Production and deposition of amyloid plaques upregulate the production of inflammatory factor, TNF alpha that exacerbates BBB

disruption <sup>90</sup>. The SCFAs produce anti-inflammatory cytokines like interleukin-10 and repress NF- $\kappa$ B<sup>91</sup> thereby decreasing inflammation. Understanding the relationship between microbial metabolites, A $\beta$  and inflammatory responses provides valuable insights into the potential therapeutic targets for mitigating neuroinflammation in AD.

#### 1.4 Effect of Short-chain Fatty Acid- Butyrate in AD

The SFCAs are some of the immunomodulatory bacterial metabolites secreted by grampositive anaerobic bacteria belonging to *Firmicutes like clostridial* clusters<sup>7</sup>, *Bifidobacterium*, and *Lactobacillus*<sup>92</sup>. Additionally, they are produced by the bacterial anaerobic fermentation of dietary fiber<sup>7</sup>. Short-chain fatty acids mainly constitute acetate, propionate, and butyrate in the proportion of 3:1:1<sup>93</sup>. Early literature suggested the critical role of butyrate in the body, and significant research is being carried out to investigate its role in health and disease states. The majority of the butyrate produced in the gut serves as the main source of energy for the colonocytes<sup>94</sup>. Butyrate is transported by free fatty acid receptors (FFARs), monocarboxylate transporter 1 (MCT1), and sodium-coupled transporters (SMCT1), in gut epithelium and BBB endothelial cells<sup>95,96</sup>. It promotes gut barrier integrity by increasing tight junction proteins. Moreover, it decreases reactive oxygen species and other inflammatory markers in the blood<sup>97</sup>. Through the gut-brain axis butyrate improves the blood-brain barrier integrity by increasing the expression of tight junction proteins like claudin, ZO. It also protects cells from A<sup>β</sup> toxicity and improves cognition in AD mouse models<sup>98</sup>. Moreover, butyrate producing species Faecalibacterium abundance is significantly lowered in AD patient's feces compared to

controls which was in turn positively correlated with cognitive decline and disease progression scores<sup>99</sup>. Additionally, it is also known for its Histone Deacetylase (HDAC) inhibition properties in-vitro and in-vivo. It increases the acetylation of histone H4, which improves cognitive function in AD APP/PS1 mice<sup>32,100</sup>. Butyrate effect in suppressing NF-κB activation and upregulating brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) might be modulated through HDAC inhibition<sup>101</sup>. On the other hand, the microbiome which produces butyrate ameliorated major AD risk factors such as cerebrovascular dysfunction, metabolic disorders<sup>102,103</sup>. Butyrate is showing protective effect on human brain microvascular endothelial cells by restoring heme oxygenase 2 levels in cerebrovascular dysfunction<sup>102</sup>. Also, butyrate producing microbiota including R.intestinalis, P.distasonis, B.fragilis were significantly down regulated in the metabolic syndrome patients, i.e patients with co-morbidities such as hypertension, obesity, diabetes<sup>103</sup>. Although there is information available regarding the role of butyrate in maintaining a healthy BBB and ameliorating the AD symptoms and biomarkers, a definitive mechanism of action has not been established. So, my study aims to elucidate the underlying mechanisms<sup>95</sup>.

#### 1.5 Hypothesis

The central hypothesis of the thesis is that gut microbial metabolite, butyrate decreases the accumulation of A $\beta$ 42 peptides at the BBB endothelium by modulating the insulin signaling pathway.

#### 1.6 Specific aim

The hypothesis was tested by the following specific aims:

**Specific aim 1**: Determine the effect of butyrate on the accumulation of A $\beta$ 42 peptides at the BBB using cell culture models in-vitro.

**Specific aim 2**: Investigate the effect of butyrate on insulin signaling pathway constituents that regulate  $A\beta 42$  peptide accumulation in polarized BBB endothelial monolayers in-vitro.

#### **1.7 Scientific rationale**

In this study, we investigated the mechanism of action of butyrate on amyloid beta accumulation in BBB endothelial cell culture models- human cerebral microvascular endothelial cell (hCMEC/D3) and primary bovine brain microvascular endothelial cell (BBME). Butyrateproducing bacteria is significantly decreased in AD and inoculating butyrate producers in the gut ameliorated plaque deposition, and improved memory deficit in mouse models<sup>5,43</sup>. However, studies also reported no effect or even an adverse effect with butyrate treatment<sup>104</sup>. This suggests the need for further clarity on the mechanism of action of butyrate. Thus, in this study, we investigated the effect of butyrate in modulating Aβ42 accumulation in BBB endothelium.

#### 2. Materials and Methods

#### 2.1 Cell culture:

The Immortalized human cerebral microvascular endothelial cell line (hCMEC/D3) was gifted by P-O Couraud (Institute Cochin, France). The cells were cultured using the procedure previously described (Daniels et al.<sup>105</sup>). Briefly, endothelial cell basal medium (Cell Applications, San Diego, CA) supplemented with 1% v/v lipid concentrate (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA), 1% v/v penicillin-streptomycin (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), 1 ng/mL recombinant human fibroblast growth factor-basic (PeproTech, Rocky Hill, NJ), 1.4  $\mu$ M hydrocortisone reconstituted in ethanol (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), 5  $\mu$ g/mL ascorbic acid (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), 10 mM HEPES (Millipore Sigma, St. Louis, MO), and 1%, 5% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Atlanta Biologicals, Flowery Branch, GA) was used to culture the cells. Hereafter, the supplemented medium is referred to as D3 media. The hCMEC/D3 cells used in the studies were of passage# 35 and were grown as polarized monolayers in coverslip-bottomed dishes and cell culture plates coated with collagen (5  $\mu$ g/ Cm<sup>2</sup>) (Thermo Fischer Scientific, Waltham, MA).

Primary bovine brain microvascular endothelial (BBME) cells were acquired from Cell Applications Inc. (San Diego, CA). The cells were cultured on 6-well plates coated with collagen (5  $\mu$ g/ Cm<sup>2</sup>) (Thermo Fischer Scientific, Waltham, MA) followed by 0.01% bovine fibronectin until >90% confluency is attained. The BBME cells were grown in DMEM/F12 medium (Cellgro, Corning, NY) supplemented with donor horse serum (Cellgro, Corning, NY), gentamycin (25 mg) (Cellgro, Corning, NY), sigma heparin sodium salt (50 mg) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO).

#### 2.2 Aβ40/42 film preparation and reconstitution

The FITC- labeled A\u00df40, unlabeled A\u00ff40, FITC-A\u00ff42, or unlabeled A\u00ff42 were supplied by Aapptec (Louisville, KY). The purity of FITC-Aβ40/42, and Aβ42 peptides were 95.21%, 96.52%, and 96.10% respectively as analyzed by liquid chromatographymass spectrometry. Monomers for each peptide were prepared as previously described by Klein (RI). Briefly, each peptide was resuspended in chilled 1,1,1,3,3,3, -hexafluoro-2propanol (HFIP) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) in a chemical fume hood. It was allowed to dissolve at room temperature for 1 h. Later, the peptide solutions were chilled over ice for 30 minutes to prevent evaporation of HFIP during aliquoting. Clear peptide solution was aliquoted into glass vials and dried overnight in the fume hood. The film thus formed was dried under vacuum and stored at -20 °C over desiccant. The Aß film was dissolved in DMSO and F-12 (R&D systems, McKinley Place NE, Minneapolis) before the experiment. Later, the Aß solution was centrifuged for 5 min at 6000 rpm to eliminate high molecular species<sup>106</sup>. The supernatant was then reconstituted in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium, DMEM (Gibco, Grand Island, NY) and treated with cells for 30 min. In the cell culture experiments, precautions were taken to not expose the cells above 0.25% DMSO contained in A $\beta$  solutions.

#### **2.3 Membrane fractionation**

The hCMEC/D3 cells were grown in the culture dishes (CELLTREAT scientific products, Pepperell, MA) containing D3 media until they were fully confluent. The day before the experiment, the medium was changed to a low serum D3 medium (1% FBS in D3 medium). The next day, cells were treated with sodium butyrate (NaBu) in D3 media in a low serum medium (1% FBS) for 6 h. Subsequently, the cells were treated with NaBu and A $\beta$ 42 (12.5 $\mu$ g/ml) in DMEM for 1 h. After treatment, cells were washed 3 times with icecold PBS. Plates were scraped with PBS (1 ml/\*3) and lysates were collected into a 15 ml falcon tube. The resultant cell suspension was centrifuged for 5 min at 1200 rpm (Thermo Scientific IEC CL40). Later, the supernatant was aspirated and the pellet was processed for membrane protein isolation (Minute<sup>TM</sup> Plasma Membrane Protein Isolation and Cell Fractionation Kit, Invent Biotechnologies, Eden Prairie, MN). The pellet was resuspended in the lysis buffer supplemented with RIPA buffer, Protease Inhibitor Cocktail 100x (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO), phosphatase inhibitor cocktail 100x (Santa Cruz, Dallas, TX), and Pierce<sup>™</sup> nuclease 100x (Thermo Fischer Scientific, Waltham, MA). The cell suspension was filtered through a cartridge and vortexed to separate nuclei. The supernatant was collected and centrifuged for 1 h at 16000\*g at 4 °C to separate the cytosol fraction (supernatant) from the total membrane (pellet). The pellet was dissolved in a Minute denaturing protein solubilization reagent along with a protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail. The protein concentration of the total membrane fraction was determined using a Pierce<sup>TM</sup> BCA assay protein kit (Thermo Fischer Scientific, Waltham, MA). A10-20ug protein aliquot was loaded on the gel for western blot.

#### 2.4 Flow cytometry

The hCMEC/D3 cells were cultured in 6 well plates with 5% D3 media until >95% confluency was attained. The day before the experiment, cells were treated with low serum (1% FBS) D3 medium. The next day, cells were treated with AKT inhibitor, MK2206 (10  $\mu$ M) or MEK inhibitor, trametinib (0.5  $\mu$ M), and sodium butyrate (NaBu) in D3 media with 1% FBS for 6 h. Subsequently, the cells were treated with inhibitors, NaBu and A $\beta$ 42 in colorless DMEM for 30 minutes. After treatment, cells were washed with chilled PBS. Later, they were trypsinized for 3 min at 37 °C and quenched with FBS. Then the cell suspension was diluted with chilled PBS and centrifuged for 5 min at 1200 rpm. Later, the cells were resuspended in PBS, followed by fixing with 4% Paraformaldehyde (PFA)<sup>107</sup>. Cells were gently vortexed and analyzed with a Flow cytometer (Laser source: 100 mW Blue, 488 nm, Excitation: 495 nm Emission: 519 nm), and the results were analyzed using FlowJo v10.0.

#### 2.5 Western blot

Whole-cell lysates (25 ug) and total membrane protein (20 ug) were loaded on 4– 12% Criterion<sup>™</sup> XT Bis-Tris protein gel (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA) with 20x, XT MOPS running buffer (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) for 1.5 h. Later, the gel was transferred to nitrocellulose membrane at 100 V for 30 min using methanol, deionized water, and tris/glycine buffer (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) in the ratio of 2:7:1. The membrane was blocked for one hour with 5% v/v blotting grade blocker (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) in tris buffered saline (TBS) containing Tween20 (0.1%) (TBST) (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA). Then, the membrane was washed with TBST and was incubated overnight at 4 °C with one of the primary antibodies [MCT1/SLC16A1, P-AKT/Ser473, MDR1/ABCB1/P-glycoprotein, Phospho-ERK1/2, GAPDH (Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA), or receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) (Abcam, Cambridge, MA)] diluted with 5% v/v BSA (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). Antibodies were diluted with 5% BSA in TBST at 1:1000 dilution. The following day, the membrane was washed with TBST and incubated for 1 h at room temperature with a secondary antibody conjugated with near-infrared (800 nm) (Licor; Lincoln, NE) at 1:2000 dilution. Following incubation, the membrane was washed with TBST and TBS and imaged using an Odyssey Licor imager. Protein bands were quantified using Image Studio Lite 5.2. and normalized, with loading protein concentration, GAPDH, or calnexin.

#### 2.6 Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism software (version 10.0). Multiple groups were compared using one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni post-test and the differences in the means of the two groups were compared using student T-test. The level of significance is indicated as follows: \*p-value<0.05, \*\*p-value<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001.

#### **3.0 RESULTS**

#### **3.1 Sodium Butyrate (NaBu) Effect on BBB:**

#### **3.1.1** Decreased Aβ40 or Aβ42 accumulation in hCMEC/D3 cells.

The hCMEC/D3 cells were pre-treated with NaBu and co-incubated with FITC-Aβ40 or Aβ42. Later, cells were processed for flow cytometry as previously described (Wang et, al<sup>107</sup>). Fold change in intracellular accumulation was calculated by dividing butyrate-treated groups with untreated control, FITC-A $\beta$  group. Fold changes of median cellular fluorescence from three replicates in each group were compared. Flow results (Table 2) indicate a significant decrease in FITC-A $\beta$ 40 accumulation upon 6 h pretreatment with NaBu (0.89  $\pm$  0.05) compared to the FITC-A $\beta$ 40 control group (1 ± 0.02). Other groups with 2 h and 24 h pretreatment have shown no significant difference in accumulation compared to the control group. The FITC-A $\beta$ 42 accumulation significantly decreased with 2 h NaBu treatment (0.5  $\pm$  0.04) compared to the FITC-A $\beta$ 42 control group (1  $\pm$  0.15). The accumulation of FITC-A $\beta$ 42 was decreased compared to the control (1 ± 0.15) after 6 h pre-treatment (0.56  $\pm$  0.14) and no effect was observed with 24 h NaBu pretreatment (\*\*p-value<0.01, one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni multiple comparison test).

		Control	2-hr	6-hr	24-hr
Butaroto	F-Aβ <sub>40</sub> (Mean ± S. D)	1.00±0.02	1.05±0.04	0.89±0.05*	0.93±0.03
Bulyrale	F-Aβ <sub>42</sub> (Mean ± S.D)	1.00±0.15	0.5±0.1**	0.56±0.14**	0.9±0.1

**Table 2: FITC-A** $\beta$ **40 or A** $\beta$ **42 accumulation in hCMEC/D3 cells.** Cells were treated with 10 µM NaBu for 2 h, 6 h, and 24 h followed by 1 h co-incubation with FITC-A $\beta$ 40 (25 µg/ml) or FITC- A $\beta$ 42 (12.5 µg/ml). The fold change of median cellular fluorescence from three replicates was assessed by flow cytometry. The standard deviation of fold change is also represented in the above table. \*p-value<0.05, \*\*p-value<0.01, One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni multiple comparison test.

#### **3.1.2** Decreased Aβ42 accumulation in bovine primary cells.

Bovine primary microvascular endothelial cells were pretreated with NaBu for 6 h followed by 30 min co-incubation with FITC-A $\beta$ 42 in DMEM. Fold change of median cellular fluorescence from three replicates were compared. The NaBu treatment decreased FITC-A $\beta$ 42 (0.6 ± 0.12) compared to the control (1 ± 0.05) as shown in Figure 3 (\*\*p-value<0.01, student t-test).



**Figure 3**: **A** $\beta$ **42 accumulation in BBME cells**. Cells were treated with 10  $\mu$ M NaBu for 6 h followed by 30 min co-incubation with FITC-A $\beta$ 42 (12.5  $\mu$ g/ml). The fold change of FITC-A $\beta$ 42 median cellular fluorescence from three replicates was assessed by flow cytometry. A & B. The NaBu pre-treatment for 6 h decreased FITC-A $\beta$ 42 accumulation in BBME cells compared to the control as shown in bar chart and histograms. C. The standard deviation of fold change is represented in the above table. \*\*p-value<0.01, student t-test.

#### **3.1.3** Decrease in MCT1 expression by Aβ42.

The hCMEC/D3 cells treated with A $\beta$ 42 for one hour showed lower MCT1 expression. The MCT1 expression (0.54 ± 0.17) was decreased compared to untreated control (1 ± 0.18) in whole cell lysates as shown in Figure 4. MCT1 expression was normalized with the expression of loading control, GAPDH. (\*\*\*p<0.001, student t-test).



Figure 4: Decreased MCT1 expression in A $\beta$ 42 treated hCMEC/D3 cell monolayers as shown by Western blots. The hCMEC/D3 monolayers were treated with 12.5 µg/ml A $\beta$ 42 for 1 h. A. Immunoblots of MCT1 and GAPDH (loading control). B Quantitation of MCT1 normalized with GAPDH in untreated

and A $\beta$ 42 treated groups. **C**. The standard deviation of fold change is represented in the above table. \*\*\*p<0.001, unpaired student t-test.

#### 3.1.4 Effect of NaBu on phosphorylation of AKT, ERK

The hCMEC/D3 cells were pretreated with NaBu for 6 h and then co-incubated with 50 nM insulin for 5 min. Insulin treatment increased the phosphorylation of AKT ( $4.03 \pm 1.68$ ) compared to the untreated group ( $1 \pm 0.3$ ), however, it was not significant. Insulin and NaBu co-incubation significantly increased the phosphorylation of AKT ( $12.33 \pm 5.22$ ) compared to the insulin-treated group ( $4.03 \pm 1.67$ ) (\*p-value<0.05, \*\*p-value<0.01, One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni multiple comparison test).

Insulin treatment significantly increased the phosphorylation of ERK (3.12  $\pm$  0.2) compared to the untreated group (1  $\pm$  0.06). The ERK phosphorylation was increased in the NaBu and insulin co-incubation group (3.98  $\pm$  0.69) compared to the insulin-treated group (3.12  $\pm$  0.19) as shown in Figure 4 (\*p-value<0.05, \*\*p-value<0.01, One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni post-test). Phosphorylated AKT and ERK protein expression were normalized with loading control GAPDH and band intensities were quantified by densitometry using Image studio<sup>TM</sup> lite software as shown in Fig 5.



Figure 5: Effect of NaBu on insulin signaling pathway in hCMEC/D3 whole cell lysates: Cells were treated with 10  $\mu$ M NaBu for 6 h with or without 50 nM insulin stimulation for 5 min. A & B: Western blots showed increased AKT and ERK phosphorylation with 6 h NaBu pre-treatment followed by 5 min insulin treatment compared to the group that received insulin treatment only. Insulin

significantly increased ERK phosphorylation, however, AKT phosphorylation didn't meet significance. **C & D**: Quantification of AKT and ERK blots. **E**. The standard deviation of fold change (FC) is represented in the above table. \*p-value<0.05, \*\*p-value<0.01, One-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni post-test.

#### **3.2** Effect of Insulin signaling inhibitors on Aβ42 accumulation in hCMEC/D3 cells

The pathogenesis of Alzheimer's disease is associated with metabolic syndrome, which manifests as insulin resistance <sup>1,108–110</sup>. Therefore, we investigated the effect of NaBu on insulin signaling. Primarily, insulin activates AKT (protein kinase B) to modulate energy metabolism and extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) pathway to control cell proliferation, growth, and differentiation<sup>111,112</sup>. Our results show that pretreatment with NaBu followed by co-incubation with insulin increases the phosphorylation of AKT and ERK in hCMEC/D3 cells compared to the insulin-treated group. Therefore, to identify the role of the insulin signaling pathway in intracellular A $\beta$  accumulation, cells were treated with insulin signaling inhibitors (AKT inhibitor, MK2206; MEK inhibitor, Trametinib) for 6 h and then co-incubated with A $\beta$ 42 for 30 min as shown in Fig 6.



**Figure 6:** Proposed mechanism for Sodium butyrate (NaBu) action in hCMEC/D3 cells. The NaBu increases the phosphorylation of the AKT and ERK pathway and mediates the decrease in Aβ42 accumulation in the in-vitro BBB polarized monolayer model, hCMEC/D3 cells. Consequently, treatment with AKT inhibitor, MK2206 or MEK inhibitor, trametinib increased the intracellular Aβ42 accumulation.

#### **3.2.1** Effect of AKT inhibitor, MK2206

The hCMEC/D3 cells were treated with NaBu and AKT inhibitor for 6 h followed by co-incubation with FITC-A $\beta$ 42 for 30 min. Fold change was calculated by comparing the individual group with the untreated control, FITC-A $\beta$  group. The NaBu-treated group has significantly lower FITC-A $\beta$ 42 accumulation (0.51 ± 0.26) compared to the untreated control (1 ± 0.27). The FITC-A $\beta$ 42 accumulation is increased in the NaBu and MK2206 co-incubation group (1.22 ± 0.12) compared to those treated with NaBu ( $0.5 \pm 0.26$ ). However, FITC-A $\beta$ 42 uptake differences between MK2206 and NaBu+MK2206 groups were not statistically significant (Figure 7). \*\*p-value<0.01, one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni multiple comparison test.



Figure 7: Effect of AKT inhibitor, MK2206 on NaBu-mediated intracellular A $\beta$ 42 uptake in hCMEC/D3 cells: The cells were treated with 10  $\mu$ M AKT inhibitor, MK2206 for 6 h followed by co-incubation with FITC-A $\beta$ 42 for 30 min. A. Bar chart shows fold change of intracellular FITC-A $\beta$ 42 median fluorescence intensity (MFI) in the cells treated with FITC-A $\beta$ 42, NaBu, MK2206, or

NaBu+MK2206. Accumulation of FITC-A $\beta$ 42 decreased with NaBu pretreatment but increased upon co-incubation with MK2206. **B**. Histograms, which were normalized to mode, depict FITC- A $\beta$ 42 uptake in various treatment groups. **C**. The standard deviation of fold change (FC) is represented in the above table. \*\*pvalue<0.01, one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni multiple comparison test.

#### **3.2.2 Effect of MEK inhibitor, Trametinib**

The hCMEC/D3 cell monolayers were treated with NaBu and/or MEK inhibitor, trametinib for 6 h followed by co-incubation with FITC-A $\beta$ 42 for 30 min. Fold change was calculated by comparing the individual group with the untreated control and FITC-A $\beta$  treatment group. The NaBu-treated group has significantly lower FITC-A $\beta$ 42 accumulation (0.44 ± 0.04) compared to the untreated control (1 ± 0.20). In contrast, the NaBu, trametinib, and FITC-A $\beta$ 42 group (0.98 ± 0.13) has increased FITC-A $\beta$ 42 accumulation within the cells compared to the NaBu group (0.44 ± 0.04). The FITC-A $\beta$ 42 accumulation in the trametinib group decreased significantly (1.4 ± 0.10) compared to NaBu co-incubation (0.98 ± 0.13) as shown in figure 8. \*\*p-value<0.01, one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni multiple comparison test.



	FITC-Aβ42 samples	Fold change		
С	(N=3)	Mean	SD	
	Control	1	0.2	
	NaBu	0.44	0.04	
	Trametinib	1.4	0.1	
	NaBu + Trametinib	0.98	0.13	

Figure 8: Effect of MEK inhibitor, Trametinib on NaBu-mediated intracellular A $\beta$ 42 uptake in hCMEC/D3 cells: The hCMEC/D3 monolayers were treated with 0.5  $\mu$ M MEK inhibitor, trametinib, for 6 h followed by coincubation with FITC-A $\beta$ 42 for 30 min. **A**. Bar chart shows fold change of intracellular FITC-A $\beta$ 42 median fluorescence intensity (MFI) in the cells treated with FITC-A $\beta$ 42, NaBu, trametinib, or NaBu with trametinib. Accumulation of FITC-A $\beta$ 42 decreased with NaBu pretreatment compared to the control group but it increased upon co-incubation with trametinib. The FITC-A $\beta$ 42 accumulation decreased with NaBu co-incubation compared to the trametinib-treated group. **B**. Histograms, which were normalized to mode, depict FITC-A $\beta$ 42 uptake in various

treatment groups. **C**. The standard deviation of fold change (FC) is represented in the above table. \*\*p-value<0.01, one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni multiple comparison test.

#### 3.3 Effect of NaBu on transporters/proteins at BBB in the hCMEC/D3 monolayers

The hCMEC/D3 monolayers were treated with NaBu for 6 h followed by co-incubation with A $\beta$ 42 in DMEM for 1 h. Whole cell lysates were subjected to membrane fractionation to isolate total membrane protein which was used for the western blot. The fold change of P-gp in the NaBu pretreated group (1.08 ± 0.19) is significantly decreased compared to the A $\beta$ 42 treated group (0.74 ± 0.14). Fold change of RAGE expression in the NaBu pretreated group (0.87 ± 0.37) is significantly increased compared to the A $\beta$ 42 treated group (2.45 ± 1.58) as shown in figure 9. \*p-value<0.05, one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni multiple comparison test.



	Expression	P-gp (FC)		RAGE (FC)	
	(11=5)	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
	Control	1	0.2	1	0.5
	Αβ42	0.7	0.14	2.45	1.58
	Aβ42 +NaBu	1.08	0.19	0.87	0.37
				- ~	

Figure 9: Butyrate effect on transporters/receptors in hCMEC/D3 total membrane lysates:

The hCMEC/D3 cells were treated with NaBu for 6 h followed by co-incubation with 12.5  $\mu$ g/ml A $\beta$ 42 for 1 h **A & B**: Immunoblots show increase in P-gp and decrease in RAGE expression after 6 h with NaBu pretreatment. C& D: Quantification of P-gp and RAGE levels normalized to calnexin (loading control). **E.** The standard deviation of FC is represented in the above table. \*p-value<0.05, one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni multiple comparison test.

#### 4. Discussion

The prevalence of AD is increasing in the elderly population across the world, and it poses a significant social and financial burden on the families of patients. Therefore, substantial resources are being invested to decipher the mechanisms underlying disease onset, progression, and cognitive impairments resulting from AD. Moreover, various strategies are being developed for the early diagnosis and treatment of AD. It is widely recognized that AD is characterized by the presence of intracellular amyloid beta (AB) plaques and extracellular neurofibrillary tangles in the brain and is also associated with cerebrovascular pathologies. The brain blood vessel lumen is lined by a monolayer of endothelial cells that constitutes the blood-brain barrier (BBB)<sup>113</sup>. The intercellular spaces between BBB endothelial cells are held together by tight junctions that restrict the passive diffusion of solutes between plasma and the brain. The BBB protects the brain from toxic substances and selectively transports essential nutrients to the Brain from plasma. Moreover, the BBB endothelial cells work in coordination with pericytes, astrocytes, and neurons, which together form the neurovascular unit<sup>19</sup>. In pathological conditions, endothelial tight junctions are compromised facilitating the entry of harmful substances into the brain leading to edema and neurovascular dysfunction.

Research conducted thus far primarily focused on establishing causality between the cognitive changes and the most visible AD biomarkers such as amyloid beta plaques and neurofibrillary tangles<sup>114</sup>. However, the treatment with anti-amyloid beta monoclonal antibodies yielded only modest results<sup>115</sup>. Hence, it may be likely that there may be other pathophysiological and environmental risk factors that need to be considered for early diagnosis and comprehensive treatment of AD. Literature evidence suggests that some of these risk factors may include BBB

disruption<sup>116</sup>, neuroinflammation<sup>117</sup>, insulin resistance<sup>118–120</sup>, gut dysbiosis<sup>57,104,121–123</sup>, and the presence of other comorbidities. The impact of neurovascular inflammation and the involvement of metabolic syndrome in increasing AD risk is being widely investigated<sup>118,119</sup>. Recent studies have also shown the influence of diet on the composition and diversity of gut microbiome<sup>124,125</sup>, and its association with mild cognitive impairment and AD<sup>124-126</sup>. Substantial diet changes resulting from urbanization across the world have shown an increase in the incidence of metabolic disorders, which is believed to elevate the risk for cardiovascular diseases. Recent studies have shown that these risk factors also engender neurodegenerative diseases including AD<sup>124,125,127–129</sup>. The gut microbiome secretes several molecules like  $\gamma$ -aminobutyric acid (GABA), serotonin, norepinephrine, dopamine, and short-chain fatty acids which act on the brain through the gut-brain axis<sup>130</sup>. The gut-brain axis is a bi-directional communication pathway between the brain and gut mediated by the vagal nerve, and other chemical messengers including neurotransmitters and short-chain fatty acids 69,131 like acetic acid, propionic acid, and butyric acid. The impact of butyrate on vascular and brain functions is currently being investigated by various researchers and is also the main topic of my thesis project. Butyrate is known to play a key role in modulating the integrity of the intestinal barrier by regulating the expression of tight junction proteins. In addition, it acts as a histone deacetylase inhibitor (HDACi) promoting histone acetylation to induce gene expression of anti-inflammatory molecules<sup>132</sup>. Butyrate also exerts an effect on brain function through the gut-brain axis<sup>69,128,131,133,134</sup>.

In the 5xFAD mouse model of AD, sodium butyrate (NaBu) reduces A $\beta$  levels in the brain<sup>135</sup>. Also, it was shown to be protective against A $\beta$  induced cytotoxicity in mouse neuroblastoma cells<sup>136</sup>. The butyrate was shown to reduce excessive reactive oxygen species

induced by high cholesterol in neuronal cells<sup>123</sup>. Moreover, butyrate was reported to improve BBB integrity in lipopolysaccharide (LPS) treated endothelial/glial cell co-cultures, which reduces the trans-endothelial electrical resistance (TEER)<sup>137</sup>. Alternatively, there have also been claims made that SCFAs derived from microbiota promote A $\beta$  plaque deposition in germ-free AD mice<sup>138</sup>. Hence, to understand butyrate's role in AD pathophysiology, it is critical to explore its actions on the BBB. In this project, we have investigated the effect of sodium butyrate (NaBu) on the intracellular A $\beta$  accumulation in the polarized hCMEC/D3 monolayer in-vitro, a widely used BBB model.

In this study, we pre-treated hCMEC/D3 monolayers with a physiological concentration of NaBu (10 uM) for various durations of time and then treated with A $\beta$ 40 (25 µg/ml) or A $\beta$ 42 (12.5 µg/ml) to investigate the effect of NaBu on intracellular A $\beta$  accumulation in endothelial cells. Treatment with NaBu with 2 h or 6 h has decreased the accumulation of A $\beta$ 42. However, 24 h treatment showed no significant effect compared to the controls. This could be due to a reduction in the concentration of NaBu during 24 h most likely due to the utilization of NaBu as an energy source by the endothelial cells similar to that observed in colonocytes<sup>139</sup>. On the other hand, A $\beta$ 40 accumulation decreased only at the 6 h time point. To confirm that the NaBu effect is consistent across various BBB endothelial cell models, A $\beta$ 42 uptake in the presence of NaBu was also investigated using primary bovine brain microvascular endothelial (BBME) cells. Similar results were observed in both hCMEC/D3 and BBME cell monolayers. These findings can explain how butyrate reduced A $\beta$  induced toxicity in the published literature on diverse cell types and in-vivo models<sup>7,128,129,140</sup>.

We have further investigated molecular mechanisms driving NaBu's effects on A<sup>β</sup> uptake by BBB endothelial cells. The impact of Aß as well as NaBu on the expression of monocarboxylic acid transporter 1 (MCT1), which serves as the primary butyrate transporter in BBB endothelial cells, was investigated. Moreover, expression of the receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE), which handle luminal-to-abluminal A $\beta$  transport as well as the permeability glycoprotein (P-gp) that promotes Aβ efflux in the abluminal-to-luminal direction were assessed. In addition, the effect of NaBu on caveolin-1 expression which is essential for the caveolae-mediated endocytosis of Aβ42 was determined <sup>26,141,142</sup>. The Aβ exposure was shown to decrease MCT1 expression, P-gp expression, and increased RAGE expression. On the other hand, NaBu increased P-gp and decreased RAGE expression in total membrane cell lysates upon 6 h treatment. According to the literature, increased A $\beta$  deposition is correlated with increased RAGE expression, and decreased P-gp expression in the human AD brains compared to age-matched controls. As NaBu is decreasing the AB accumulation, it is logical to observe decreased RAGE expression and increased P-gp expression in hCMEC/D3 cell monolayers<sup>26,141</sup>. Since A $\beta$  enters the cell through RAGE and is expelled via P-gp, the downstream mediators of NaBu's action, which regulate RAGE and P-gp expression remain unknown and require further investigation.

The metabolic syndrome that manifests insulin resistance is implicated in the pathogenesis of AD <sup>1,108–110</sup>. Therefore, we investigated the effect of NaBu on insulin signaling. Insulin mainly activates AKT (protein kinase B) to regulate energy metabolism and extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) pathway to regulate cell proliferation, growth, and differentiation<sup>111,112</sup>. The western blots of the BBB endothelial cell lysates treated with NaBu and insulin showed an increase in the phosphorylation of both AKT and ERK compared to insulin insulin-alone group after 6 h. Then,

additional studies were conducted to explore the involvement of AKT and ERK in the regulation of A $\beta$  uptake by BBB endothelial cells. The BBB endothelial monolayers were treated with NaBu alone and NaBu with AKT inhibitor, MK2206 (10  $\mu$ M); the A $\beta$  accumulation decreased with NaBu treatment and increased upon co-incubation with MK2206. These results suggest the involvement of the AKT pathway in the NaBu-mediated reduction of A $\beta$  accumulation in the endothelial cells. Similarly, BBB endothelial cells were treated with NaBu alone or in coincubation with MEK inhibitor, trametinib (0.5  $\mu$ M). Like in the case of AKT inhibitor, the BBB endothelial cells treated with NaBu and trametinib increased A $\beta$  accumulation compared NaBu alone group. These results demonstrate the involvement of MEK in A $\beta$  accumulation. These findings provide a strong basis to speculate that NaBu modulates insulin signaling pathways to alter A $\beta$  uptake by the BBB endothelium. Therefore, it is highly likely that this uptake mechanism is disrupted under insulin resistance, promotes A $\beta$  transport dysregulation at the BBB, and augments AD pathogenesis.

To obtain a comprehensive insight into the NaBu effect on AKT and ERK pathways in regulating A $\beta$  endocytosis in the blood-brain barrier endothelial cells, it is imperative to investigate various mediators involved in the insulin signaling pathway. Thus, further studies to elucidate the NaBu effect on BBB integrity and function, specifically their role in regulating A $\beta$  kinetics at the BBB need to be conducted.

#### **Bibliography**

- Reitz, C.; Mayeux, R. Alzheimer Disease: Epidemiology, Diagnostic Criteria, Risk Factors and Biomarkers. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 2014, *88* (4), 640–651. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2013.12.024.
- (2) Emily Connell; Gwenaelle Le Gall; Matthew G Pontifex; Saber Sami; John F Cryan; Gerard Clarke; Michael Müller; Vauzour, D. Microbial-Derived Metabolites as a Risk Factor of Age-Related Cognitive Decline and Dementia. *Molecular Neurodegeneration*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13024-022-00548-6.
- (3) Cruchaga, C.; Kauwe, J. S. K.; Harari, O.; Jin, S. C.; Cai, Y.; Karch, C. M.; Benitez, B. A.; Jeng, A. T.; Skorupa, T.; Carrell, D.; Bertelsen, S.; Bailey, M.; McKean, D.; Shulman, J. M.; De Jager, P. L.; Chibnik, L.; Bennett, D. A.; Arnold, S. E.; Harold, D.; Sims, R.; Gerrish, A.; Williams, J.; Van Deerlin, V. M.; Lee, V. M.-Y.; Shaw, L. M.; Trojanowski, J. Q.; Haines, J. L.; Mayeux, R.; Pericak-Vance, M. A.; Farrer, L. A.; Schellenberg, G. D.; Peskind, E. R.; Galasko, D.; Fagan, A. M.; Holtzman, D. M.; Morris, J. C.; Goate, A. M. GWAS of Cerebrospinal Fluid Tau Levels Identifies Risk Variants for Alzheimer's Disease. *Neuron* 2013, *78* (2), 256–268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2013.02.026.
- Ott, A.; Stolk, R. P.; Hofman, A.; Van Harskamp, F.; Grobbee, D. E.; Breteler, M. M. B. Association of Diabetes Mellitus and Dementia: The Rotterdam Study. *Diabetologia* 1996, *39* (11), 1392–1397. https://doi.org/10.1007/s001250050588.
- (5) Kowalski, K.; Mulak, A. Brain-Gut-Microbiota Axis in Alzheimer's Disease. *J Neurogastroenterol Motil* **2019**, *25* (1), 48–60. https://doi.org/10.5056/jnm18087.
- Russell, W. R.; Hoyles, L.; Flint, H. J.; Dumas, M.-E. Colonic Bacterial Metabolites and Human Health. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* 2013, *16* (3), 246–254. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2013.07.002.
- (7) Liu, H.; Wang, J.; He, T.; Becker, S.; Zhang, G.; Li, D.; Ma, X. Butyrate: A Double-Edged Sword for Health? *Advances in Nutrition* **2018**, *9* (1), 21–29. https://doi.org/10.1093/advances/nmx009.
- (8) Zhou, A. L.; Swaminathan, S. K.; Gali, C. C.; Bruinsma, T. J.; Curran, G. L.; Sarma, V. V.; Decklever, T.; Sharda, N.; Wang, L.; Min, P. H.; Lowe, V. J.; Kandimalla, K. K. Blood-brain Barrier Insulin Resistance Decreases Insulin Uptake and Increases Amyloid Beta Uptake in Alzheimer's Disease Brain: Developing Topics. *Alzheimer's & amp; Dementia* **2020**, *16* (S3), e047353. https://doi.org/10.1002/alz.047353.
- Bedse, G.; Di Domenico, F.; Serviddio, G.; Cassano, T. Aberrant Insulin Signaling in Alzheimer's Disease: Current Knowledge. *Frontiers in Neuroscience* 2015, *9*, 204–204. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2015.00204.
- (10) Ujala Sehar; Priyanka Rawat; Reddy, A. P.; Kopel, J.; Reddy, P. H. Amyloid Beta in Aging and Alzheimer's Disease. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* **2022**, *23* (21), 12924–12924. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms232112924.
- Götz, J.; Streffer, J. R.; David, D.; Schild, A.; Hoerndli, F.; Pennanen, L.; Kurosinski, P.; Chen, F. Transgenic Animal Models of Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders: Histopathology, Behavior and Therapy. *Mol Psychiatry* 2004, *9* (7), 664–683. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.mp.4001508.
- (12) Tanzi, R. E. The Genetics of Alzheimer Disease. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine* **2012**, 2 (10), a006296–a006296. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a006296.

- Karch, C. M.; Goate, A. M. Alzheimer's Disease Risk Genes and Mechanisms of Disease Pathogenesis. *Biological Psychiatry* 2015, 77 (1), 43–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2014.05.006.
- (14) Schellenberg, G. D.; Montine, T. J. The Genetics and Neuropathology of Alzheimer's Disease. *Acta Neuropathol* **2012**, *124* (3), 305–323. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-012-0996-2.
- (15) Safieh, M.; Korczyn, A. D.; Michaelson, D. M. ApoE4: An Emerging Therapeutic Target for Alzheimer's Disease. *BMC Med* **2019**, *17* (1), 64. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12916-019-1299-4.
- (16) Bell, R. D.; Winkler, E. A.; Singh, I.; Sagare, A. P.; Deane, R.; Wu, Z.; Holtzman, D. M.; Betsholtz, C.; Armulik, A.; Sallstrom, J.; Berk, B. C.; Zlokovic, B. V. Apolipoprotein E Controls Cerebrovascular Integrity via Cyclophilin A. *Nature* **2012**, *485* (7399), 512–516. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11087.
- (17) Karch, C. M.; Jeng, A. T.; Nowotny, P.; Cady, J.; Cruchaga, C.; Goate, A. M. Expression of Novel Alzheimer's Disease Risk Genes in Control and Alzheimer's Disease Brains. *PLoS ONE* 2012, 7 (11), e50976. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0050976.
- (18) Xiao, Q.; Gil, S.-C.; Yan, P.; Wang, Y.; Han, S.; Gonzales, E.; Perez, R.; Cirrito, J. R.; Lee, J.-M. Role of Phosphatidylinositol Clathrin Assembly Lymphoid-Myeloid Leukemia (PICALM) in Intracellular Amyloid Precursor Protein (APP) Processing and Amyloid Plaque Pathogenesis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **2012**, *287* (25), 21279–21289. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.338376.
- (19) Kadry, H.; Noorani, B.; Cucullo, L. A Blood–Brain Barrier Overview on Structure, Function, Impairment, and Biomarkers of Integrity. *Fluids Barriers CNS* **2020**, *17* (1), 69. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12987-020-00230-3.
- (20) Pardridge, W. M.; Eisenberg, J.; Yang, J. Human Blood—Brain Barrier Insulin Receptor. *Journal of Neurochemistry* **1985**, *44* (6), 1771–1778. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.1985.tb07167.x.
- (21) Baloyannis, S. J.; Baloyannis, I. S. The Vascular Factor in Alzheimer's Disease: A Study in Golgi Technique and Electron Microscopy. *Journal of the Neurological Sciences* **2012**, *322* (1–2), 117– 121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jns.2012.07.010.
- Farkas, E.; Luiten, P. G. M. Cerebral Microvascular Pathology in Aging and Alzheimer's Disease.
   Progress in Neurobiology 2001, 64 (6), 575–611. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301-0082(00)00068-X.
- (23) Sengillo, J. D.; Winkler, E. A.; Walker, C. T.; Sullivan, J. S.; Johnson, M.; Zlokovic, B. V. Deficiency in Mural Vascular Cells Coincides with Blood–Brain Barrier Disruption in A Lzheimer's Disease. *Brain Pathology* **2013**, *23* (3), 303–310. https://doi.org/10.1111/bpa.12004.
- (24) Montagne, A.; Barnes, S. R.; Sweeney, M. D.; Halliday, M. R.; Sagare, A. P.; Zhao, Z.; Toga, A. W.; Jacobs, R. E.; Liu, C. Y.; Amezcua, L.; Harrington, M. G.; Chui, H. C.; Law, M.; Zlokovic, B. V. Blood-Brain Barrier Breakdown in the Aging Human Hippocampus. *Neuron* **2015**, *85* (2), 296–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2014.12.032.
- (25) Sivandzade, F.; Prasad, S.; Bhalerao, A.; Cucullo, L. NRF2 and NF-κB Interplay in Cerebrovascular and Neurodegenerative Disorders: Molecular Mechanisms and Possible Therapeutic Approaches. *Redox Biology* **2019**, *21*, 101059. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2018.11.017.
- (26) Yan, S. S.; Chen, D.; Yan, S.; Guo, L.; Chen, J. X. RAGE Is a Key Cellular Target for Aβ-Induced Perturbation in Alzheimer's Disease. *Front Biosci* **2013**.
- (27) Talbot, K.; Wang, H.-Y.; Kazi, H.; Han, L.-Y.; Bakshi, K. P.; Stucky, A.; Fuino, R. L.; Kawaguchi, K. R.; Samoyedny, A. J.; Wilson, R. S.; Arvanitakis, Z.; Schneider, J. A.; Wolf, B. A.; Bennett, D. A.; Trojanowski, J. Q.; Arnold, S. E. Demonstrated Brain Insulin Resistance in Alzheimer's Disease

Patients Is Associated with IGF-1 Resistance, IRS-1 Dysregulation, and Cognitive Decline. J. Clin. Invest. **2012**, 122 (4), 1316–1338. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI59903.

- Hoyer, S. Glucose Metabolism and Insulin Receptor Signal Transduction in Alzheimer Disease. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 2004, 490 (1–3), 115–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2004.02.049.
- Hoyer, S. The Brain Insulin Signal Transduction System and Sporadic (Type II) Alzheimer Disease: An Update. *Journal of Neural Transmission* 2002, *109* (3), 341–360. https://doi.org/10.1007/s007020200028.
- Schubert, M.; Gautam, D.; Surjo, D.; Ueki, K.; Baudler, S.; Schubert, D.; Kondo, T.; Alber, J.;
   Galldiks, N.; Küstermann, E.; Arndt, S.; Jacobs, A. H.; Krone, W.; Kahn, C. R.; Brüning, J. C. Role for Neuronal Insulin Resistance in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 2004, 101 (9), 3100–3105. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0308724101.
- (31) Kilgore, M.; Miller, C. A.; Fass, D. M.; Hennig, K. M.; Haggarty, S. J.; Sweatt, J. D.; Rumbaugh, G. Inhibitors of Class 1 Histone Deacetylases Reverse Contextual Memory Deficits in a Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease. *Neuropsychopharmacol* 2010, 35 (4), 870–880. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2009.197.
- Benito, E.; Urbanke, H.; Ramachandran, B.; Barth, J.; Halder, R.; Awasthi, A.; Jain, G.; Capece, V.; Burkhardt, S.; Navarro-Sala, M.; Nagarajan, S.; Schütz, A.-L.; Johnsen, S. A.; Bonn, S.; Lührmann, R.; Dean, C.; Fischer, A. HDAC Inhibitor–Dependent Transcriptome and Memory Reinstatement in Cognitive Decline Models. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2015, *125* (9), 3572–3584. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI79942.
- (33) Badal, V. D.; Vaccariello, E. D.; Murray, E. R.; Yu, K. E.; Knight, R.; Jeste, D. V.; Nguyen, T. T. The Gut Microbiome, Aging, and Longevity: A Systematic Review. *Nutrients* **2020**, *12* (12), 3759. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu12123759.
- Xia, X.; Jiang, Q.; McDermott, J.; Han, J. J. Aging and Alzheimer's Disease: Comparison and Associations from Molecular to System Level. *Aging Cell* 2018, *17* (5), e12802. https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.12802.
- (35) Gevers, D.; Knight, R.; Petrosino, J. F.; Huang, K.; McGuire, A. L.; Birren, B. W.; Nelson, K. E.; White, O.; Methé, B. A.; Huttenhower, C. The Human Microbiome Project: A Community Resource for the Healthy Human Microbiome. *PLoS Biol* **2012**, *10* (8), e1001377. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001377.
- (36) Westfall, S.; Lomis, N.; Kahouli, I.; Dia, S. Y.; Singh, S. P.; Prakash, S. Microbiome, Probiotics and Neurodegenerative Diseases: Deciphering the Gut Brain Axis. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 2017, 74 (20), 3769–3787. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-017-2550-9.
- (37) Haslin Madihah Hashim; Suzana Makpol. A Review of the Preclinical and Clinical Studies on the Role of the Gut Microbiome in Aging and Neurodegenerative Diseases and Its Modulation. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience* **2022**, *16*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2022.1007166.
- (38) Guo, P.; Zhang, K.; Ma, X.; He, P. Clostridium Species as Probiotics: Potentials and Challenges. J Animal Sci Biotechnol **2020**, 11 (1), 24. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40104-019-0402-1.
- (39) Kovatcheva-Datchary, P.; Nilsson, A.; Akrami, R.; Lee, Y. S.; De Vadder, F.; Arora, T.; Hallen, A.; Martens, E.; Björck, I.; Bäckhed, F. Dietary Fiber-Induced Improvement in Glucose Metabolism Is Associated with Increased Abundance of Prevotella. *Cell Metabolism* 2015, *22* (6), 971–982. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2015.10.001.

- Baldelli, V.; Scaldaferri, F.; Putignani, L.; Del Chierico, F. The Role of Enterobacteriaceae in Gut Microbiota Dysbiosis in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. *Microorganisms* 2021, 9 (4), 697. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9040697.
- Rahayu, E. S.; Utami, T.; Mariyatun, M.; Hasan, P. N.; Kamil, R. Z.; Setyawan, R. H.;
   Pamungkaningtyas, F. H.; Harahap, I. A.; Wiryohanjoyo, D. V.; Pramesi, P. C.; Cahyanto, M. N.;
   Sujaya, I. N.; Juffrie, M. Gut Microbiota Profile in Healthy Indonesians. *WJG* 2019, 25 (12), 1478–1491. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v25.i12.1478.
- Kawashima, K.; Misawa, H.; Moriwaki, Y.; Fujii, Y. X.; Fujii, T.; Horiuchi, Y.; Yamada, T.; Imanaka, T.; Kamekura, M. Ubiquitous Expression of Acetylcholine and Its Biological Functions in Life Forms without Nervous Systems. *Life Sciences* 2007, *80* (24–25), 2206–2209. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2007.01.059.
- (43) Quigley, E. M. M. Microbiota-Brain-Gut Axis and Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep* **2017**, *17* (12), 94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11910-017-0802-6.
- (44) Rahman, S. Gut Microbial Metabolites and Its Impact on Human Health. *aog* **2023**. https://doi.org/10.20524/aog.2023.0809.
- (45) Zhao, Y.; Lukiw, W. J. Bacteroidetes Neurotoxins and Inflammatory Neurodegeneration. *Mol Neurobiol* **2018**, *55* (12), 9100–9107. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-018-1015-y.
- Kinney, J. W.; Bemiller, S. M.; Bemiller, S. M.; Murtishaw, A. S.; Leisgang, A. M.; Salazar, A.; Bruce T. Lamb; Lamb, B. T.; Lamb, B. T. Inflammation as a Central Mechanism in Alzheimer's Disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: Translational Research & Clinical Interventions* 2018, 4 (1), 575–590. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trci.2018.06.014.
- (47) Zhan, X.; Stamova, B.; Sharp, F. R. Lipopolysaccharide Associates with Amyloid Plaques, Neurons and Oligodendrocytes in Alzheimer's Disease Brain: A Review. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 2018, 10, 42. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnagi.2018.00042.
- (48) Sun, J.; Zhang, S.; Zhang, X.; Zhang, X.; Dong, H.; Qian, Y. IL-17A Is Implicated in Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Neuroinflammation and Cognitive Impairment in Aged Rats via Microglial Activation. *J Neuroinflammation* **2015**, *12* (1), 165. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-015-0394-5.
- (49) Hufnagel, D. A.; Tükel, Ç.; Chapman, M. R. Disease to Dirt: The Biology of Microbial Amyloids. *PLoS Pathog* **2013**, *9* (11), e1003740. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1003740.
- (50) Schwartz, K.; Boles, B. R. Microbial Amyloids Functions and Interactions within the Host. *Current Opinion in Microbiology* **2013**, *16* (1), 93–99. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2012.12.001.
- (51) Jin, J.; Xu, Z.; Zhang, L.; Zhang, C.; Zhao, X.; Mao, Y.; Zhang, H.; Liang, X.; Wu, J.; Yang, Y.; Zhang, J. Gut-Derived β-Amyloid: Likely a Centerpiece of the Gut–Brain Axis Contributing to Alzheimer's Pathogenesis. *Gut Microbes* **2023**, *15* (1), 2167172. https://doi.org/10.1080/19490976.2023.2167172.
- (52) Lundmark, K.; Westermark, G. T.; Olsén, A.; Westermark, P. Protein Fibrils in Nature Can Enhance Amyloid Protein A Amyloidosis in Mice: Cross-Seeding as a Disease Mechanism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **2005**, *102* (17), 6098–6102. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0501814102.
- (53) Zhou, Y.; Smith, D.; Leong, B. J.; Brännström, K.; Almqvist, F.; Chapman, M. R. Promiscuous Cross-Seeding between Bacterial Amyloids Promotes Interspecies Biofilms. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **2012**, *287* (42), 35092–35103. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.383737.
- (54) Nishimori, J. H.; Newman, T. N.; Oppong, G. O.; Rapsinski, G. J.; Yen, J.-H.; Biesecker, S. G.; Wilson, R. P.; Butler, B. P.; Winter, M. G.; Tsolis, R. M.; Ganea, D.; Tükel, Ç. Microbial Amyloids Induce

Interleukin 17A (IL-17A) and IL-22 Responses via Toll-Like Receptor 2 Activation in the Intestinal Mucosa. *Infect Immun* **2012**, *80* (12), 4398–4408. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00911-12.

- Perriard, G.; Mathias, A.; Enz, L.; Canales, M.; Schluep, M.; Gentner, M.; Schaeren-Wiemers, N.;
   Du Pasquier, R. A. Interleukin-22 Is Increased in Multiple Sclerosis Patients and Targets
   Astrocytes. J Neuroinflammation 2015, 12 (1), 119. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-015-0335-3.
- (56) Strandwitz, P. Neurotransmitter Modulation by the Gut Microbiota. *Brain Research* **2018**, *1693*, 128–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2018.03.015.
- (57) Alkasir, R.; Li, J.; Li, X.; Jin, M.; Zhu, B. Human Gut Microbiota: The Links with Dementia Development. *Protein Cell* **2017**, *8* (2), 90–102. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13238-016-0338-6.
- Liu, S.; Gao, J.; Zhu, M.; Liu, K.; Zhang, H.-L. Gut Microbiota and Dysbiosis in Alzheimer's Disease: Implications for Pathogenesis and Treatment. *Mol Neurobiol* 2020, *57* (12), 5026–5043. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-020-02073-3.
- (59) Thomas, C. M.; Hong, T.; Van Pijkeren, J. P.; Hemarajata, P.; Trinh, D. V.; Hu, W.; Britton, R. A.; Kalkum, M.; Versalovic, J. Histamine Derived from Probiotic Lactobacillus Reuteri Suppresses TNF via Modulation of PKA and ERK Signaling. *PLoS ONE* **2012**, *7* (2), e31951. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0031951.
- (60) Barrett, E.; Ross, R. P.; O'Toole, P. W.; Fitzgerald, G. F.; Stanton, C. γ-Aminobutyric Acid
   Production by Culturable Bacteria from the Human Intestine. *J Appl Microbiol* 2012, *113* (2), 411–417. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2012.05344.x.
- (61) Vogt, N. M.; Kerby, R. L.; Dill-McFarland, K. A.; Harding, S. J.; Merluzzi, A. P.; Johnson, S. C.; Carlsson, C. M.; Asthana, S.; Zetterberg, H.; Blennow, K.; Bendlin, B. B.; Rey, F. E. Gut Microbiome Alterations in Alzheimer's Disease. *Sci Rep* **2017**, 7 (1), 13537. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-13601-y.
- (62) Zhuang, Z.-Q.; Shen, L.-L.; Li, W.-W.; Fu, X.; Zeng, F.; Gui, L.; Lü, Y.; Cai, M.; Zhu, C.; Tan, Y.-L.;
   Zheng, P.; Li, H.-Y.; Zhu, J.; Zhou, H.-D.; Bu, X.-L.; Wang, Y.-J. Gut Microbiota Is Altered in Patients with Alzheimer's Disease. *JAD* 2018, *63* (4), 1337–1346. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-180176.
- (63) Minter, M. R.; Zhang, C.; Leone, V.; Ringus, D. L.; Zhang, X.; Oyler-Castrillo, P.; Musch, M. W.; Liao, F.; Ward, J. F.; Holtzman, D. M.; Chang, E. B.; Tanzi, R. E.; Sisodia, S. S. Antibiotic-Induced Perturbations in Gut Microbial Diversity Influences Neuro-Inflammation and Amyloidosis in a Murine Model of Alzheimer's Disease. *Sci Rep* **2016**, *6* (1), 30028. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep30028.
- (64) Xin, Y.; Diling, C.; Jian, Y.; Ting, L.; Guoyan, H.; Hualun, L.; Xiaocui, T.; Guoxiao, L.; Ou, S.; Chaoqun, Z.; Jun, Z.; Yizhen, X. Effects of Oligosaccharides From Morinda Officinalis on Gut Microbiota and Metabolome of APP/PS1 Transgenic Mice. *Front. Neurol.* 2018, 9, 412. https://doi.org/10.3389/fneur.2018.00412.
- (65) Athari Nik Azm, S.; Djazayeri, A.; Safa, M.; Azami, K.; Ahmadvand, B.; Sabbaghziarani, F.;
   Sharifzadeh, M.; Vafa, M. Lactobacilli and Bifidobacteria Ameliorate Memory and Learning
   Deficits and Oxidative Stress in β-Amyloid (1–42) Injected Rats. *Appl. Physiol. Nutr. Metab.* 2018, 43 (7), 718–726. https://doi.org/10.1139/apnm-2017-0648.
- (66) Wu, S.-C.; Cao, Z.-S.; Chang, K.-M.; Juang, J.-L. Intestinal Microbial Dysbiosis Aggravates the Progression of Alzheimer's Disease in Drosophila. *Nat Commun* **2017**, *8* (1), 24. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-00040-6.
- (67) Chalazonitis, A.; Rao, M. Enteric Nervous System Manifestations of Neurodegenerative Disease. Brain Research **2018**, 1693, 207–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2018.01.011.

- (68) Zhan, X.; Stamova, B.; Jin, L.-W.; DeCarli, C.; Phinney, B.; Sharp, F. R. Gram-Negative Bacterial Molecules Associate with Alzheimer Disease Pathology. *Neurology* **2016**, *87* (22), 2324–2332. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000003391.
- (69) Rawan Tarawneh; Elena Penhos. The Gut Microbiome and Alzheimer's Disease: Complex and Bidirectional Interactions. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews* **2022**, 104814–104814. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2022.104814.
- (70) Dominy, S. S.; Lynch, C.; Ermini, F.; Benedyk, M.; Marczyk, A.; Konradi, A.; Nguyen, M.; Haditsch, U.; Raha, D.; Griffin, C.; Holsinger, L. J.; Arastu-Kapur, S.; Kaba, S.; Lee, A.; Ryder, M. I.; Potempa, B.; Mydel, P.; Hellvard, A.; Adamowicz, K.; Hasturk, H.; Walker, G. D.; Reynolds, E. C.; Faull, R. L. M.; Curtis, M. A.; Dragunow, M.; Potempa, J. *Porphyromonas Gingivalis* in Alzheimer's Disease Brains: Evidence for Disease Causation and Treatment with Small-Molecule Inhibitors. *Sci. Adv.* 2019, *5* (1), eaau3333. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aau3333.
- Kalmijn, S.; Launer, L. J.; Ott, A.; Witteman, J. C. M.; Hofman, A.; Breteler, M. M. B. Dietary Fat Intake and the Risk of Incident Dementia in the Rotterdam Study. *Annals of Neurology* 1997, 42 (5), 776–782. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.410420514.
- (72) Parolini, C. Effects of Fish N-3 PUFAs on Intestinal Microbiota and Immune System. *Marine Drugs* **2019**, *17* (6), 374. https://doi.org/10.3390/md17060374.
- (73) Gao, Z.; Yin, J.; Zhang, J.; Ward, R. E.; Martin, R. J.; Lefevre, M.; Cefalu, W. T.; Ye, J. Butyrate Improves Insulin Sensitivity and Increases Energy Expenditure in Mice. *Diabetes* 2009, *58* (7), 1509–1517. https://doi.org/10.2337/db08-1637.
- (74) Amen, D. G.; Wu, J.; George, N.; Newberg, A. Patterns of Regional Cerebral Blood Flow as a Function of Obesity in Adults. JAD 2020, 77 (3), 1331–1337. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-200655.
- (75) Cadar, D.; Ma, Y.; Ajnakina, O.; Steptoe, A. English Older Individuals Who Are Overweight or Obese.
- (76) Dake, M. D.; De Marco, M.; Blackburn, D. J.; Wilkinson, I. D.; Remes, A.; Liu, Y.; Pikkarainen, M.;
   Hallikainen, M.; Soininen, H.; Venneri, A. Obesity and Brain Vulnerability in Normal and Abnormal Aging: A Multimodal MRI Study. *ADR* 2021, 5 (1), 65–77. https://doi.org/10.3233/ADR-200267.
- (77) Abhilasha Ahlawat; Vaibhav Walia; Munish Garg. Role of Impaired Insulin Signaling in the Pathogenesis of Dementia. **2022**, 63–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-16-7606-2\_3.
- (78) Arnold, S. E.; Arvanitakis, Z.; Macauley-Rambach, S. L.; Koenig, A. M.; Wang, H.-Y.; Ahima, R. S.; Craft, S.; Gandy, S.; Buettner, C.; Stoeckel, L. E.; Holtzman, D. M.; Nathan, D. M. Brain Insulin Resistance in Type 2 Diabetes and Alzheimer Disease: Concepts and Conundrums. *Nat Rev Neurol* 2018, 14 (3), 168–181. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2017.185.
- Berlanga-Acosta, J.; Berlanga-Acosta, J.; Guillén, G.; Guillén-Nieto, G.; Rodríguez-Rodríguez, N.; Bringas, M. L.; Bringas-Vega, M. L.; García-del-Barco-Herrera, D.; Berlanga-Saez, J. O.; García-Ojalvo, A.; Valdés-Sosa, M.; Mitchell Valdés-Sosa; Pedro A. Valdes-Sosa; Valdes-Sosa, P. A. Insulin Resistance at the Crossroad of Alzheimer Disease Pathology: A Review. *Frontiers in Endocrinology* 2020, 11, 560375–560375. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2020.560375.
- (80) Maddie Perdoncin; Alec Konrad; Joshua R. Wyner; Samir Lohana; Pillai, S. S.; Duane G. Pereira; Lakhani, H. V.; Sodhi, K. A Review of miRNAs as Biomarkers and Effect of Dietary Modulation in Obesity Associated Cognitive Decline and Neurodegenerative Disorders. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience* 2021, 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2021.756499.
- (81) Wei, Z.; Koya, J.; Reznik, S. E. Insulin Resistance Exacerbates Alzheimer Disease via Multiple Mechanisms. *Front. Neurosci.* **2021**, *15*, 687157. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2021.687157.

- (82) Gasparini, L.; Gouras, G. K.; Wang, R.; Gross, R. S.; Beal, M. F.; Greengard, P.; Xu, H. Stimulation of β-Amyloid Precursor Protein Trafficking by Insulin Reduces Intraneuronal β-Amyloid and Requires Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase Signaling. *J. Neurosci.* 2001, *21* (8), 2561–2570. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.21-08-02561.2001.
- (83) Nazareth, A. M. D. Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in the Pathophysiology of Alzheimer's Disease. Dement. neuropsychol. 2017, 11 (2), 105–113. https://doi.org/10.1590/1980-57642016dn11-020002.
- (84) Tsalamandris, S.; Antonopoulos, A. S.; Oikonomou, E.; Papamikroulis, G.-A.; Vogiatzi, G.;
   Papaioannou, S.; Deftereos, S.; Tousoulis, D. The Role of Inflammation in Diabetes: Current Concepts and Future Perspectives. *Eur Cardiol* 2019, *14* (1), 50–59. https://doi.org/10.15420/ecr.2018.33.1.
- (85) Dias, R. A.; Dias, L.; Azevedo, E.; Castro, P. Acute Inflammation in Cerebrovascular Disease: A Critical Reappraisal with Focus on Human Studies. *Life* **2021**, *11* (10), 1103. https://doi.org/10.3390/life11101103.
- (86) Domingues, C.; da Cruz E Silva, O. A. B.; Henriques, A. G. Impact of Cytokines and Chemokines on Alzheimer's Disease Neuropathological Hallmarks. *Curr Alzheimer Res* 2017, *14* (8), 870–882. https://doi.org/10.2174/1567205014666170317113606.
- (87) Goldgaber, D.; Harris, H. W.; Hla, T.; Maciag, T.; Donnelly, R. J.; Jacobsen, J. S.; Vitek, M. P.; Gajdusek, D. C. Interleukin 1 Regulates Synthesis of Amyloid Beta-Protein Precursor mRNA in Human Endothelial Cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* **1989**, *86* (19), 7606–7610. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.86.19.7606.
- (88) Kumar, D. K. V.; Choi, S. H.; Washicosky, K. J.; Eimer, W. A.; Tucker, S.; Ghofrani, J.; Lefkowitz, A.; McColl, G.; Goldstein, L. E.; Tanzi, R. E.; Moir, R. D. Amyloid-β Peptide Protects against Microbial Infection in Mouse and Worm Models of Alzheimer's Disease. *Sci. Transl. Med.* **2016**, *8* (340). https://doi.org/10.1126/scitranslmed.aaf1059.
- (89) Welling, M. M.; Nabuurs, R. J. A.; Van Der Weerd, L. Potential Role of Antimicrobial Peptides in the Early Onset of Alzheimer's Disease. *Alzheimer's & amp; Dementia* **2015**, *11* (1), 51–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2013.12.020.
- (90) Lee, H.; Jeon, S. G.; Kim, J.; Kang, R. J.; Kim, S.; Han, K.; Park, H.; Kim, K.; Sung, Y. M.; Nam, H. Y.; Koh, Y. H.; Song, M.; Suk, K.; Hoe, H. Ibrutinib Modulates Aβ/Tau Pathology, Neuroinflammation, and Cognitive Function in Mouse Models of Alzheimer's Disease. *Aging Cell* **2021**, *20* (3), e13332. https://doi.org/10.1111/acel.13332.
- (91) Rooks, M. G.; Garrett, W. S. Gut Microbiota, Metabolites and Host Immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol* **2016**, *16* (6), 341–352. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri.2016.42.
- (92) Kim, S.; Jazwinski, S. M. The Gut Microbiota and Healthy Aging: A Mini-Review. *Gerontology* **2018**, *64* (6), 513–520. https://doi.org/10.1159/000490615.
- Müller, B.; Rasmusson, A. J.; Just, D.; Jayarathna, S.; Moazzami, A.; Novicic, Z. K.; Cunningham, J. L. Fecal Short-Chain Fatty Acid Ratios as Related to Gastrointestinal and Depressive Symptoms in Young Adults. *Psychosom Med* 2021, *83* (7), 693–699. https://doi.org/10.1097/PSY.000000000000065.
- (94) Boets, E.; Gomand, S. V.; Deroover, L.; Preston, T.; Vermeulen, K.; De Preter, V.; Hamer, H. M.; Van Den Mooter, G.; De Vuyst, L.; Courtin, C. M.; Annaert, P.; Delcour, J. A.; Verbeke, K. A. Systemic Availability and Metabolism of Colonic-derived Short-chain Fatty Acids in Healthy Subjects: A Stable Isotope Study. *The Journal of Physiology* **2017**, *595* (2), 541–555. https://doi.org/10.1113/JP272613.

- (95) Fusco, W.; Lorenzo, M. B.; Cintoni, M.; Porcari, S.; Rinninella, E.; Kaitsas, F.; Lener, E.; Mele, M. C.; Gasbarrini, A.; Collado, M. C.; Cammarota, G.; Ianiro, G. Short-Chain Fatty-Acid-Producing Bacteria: Key Components of the Human Gut Microbiota. *Nutrients* 2023, *15* (9), 2211. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu15092211.
- (96) Ratajczak, W.; Rył, A.; Mizerski, A.; Walczakiewicz, K.; Sipak, O.; Laszczyńska, M. Immunomodulatory Potential of Gut Microbiome-Derived Short-Chain Fatty Acids (SCFAs). Acta Biochim Pol **2019**. https://doi.org/10.18388/abp.2018\_2648.
- (97) Velázquez, O. C.; Lederer, H. M.; Rombeau, J. L. Butyrate and the Colonocyte: Production, Absorption, Metabolism, and Therapeutic Implications. In *Dietary Fiber in Health and Disease*; Kritchevsky, D., Bonfield, C., Eds.; Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology; Springer US: Boston, MA, 1997; Vol. 427, pp 123–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-5967-2\_14.
- (98) Amiri, P.; Hosseini, S. A.; Ghaffari, S.; Tutunchi, H.; Ghaffari, S.; Mosharkesh, E.; Asghari, S.; Roshanravan, N. Role of Butyrate, a Gut Microbiota Derived Metabolite, in Cardiovascular Diseases: A Comprehensive Narrative Review. *Front. Pharmacol.* 2022, *12*, 837509. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2021.837509.
- Ling, Z.; Zhu, M.; Yan, X.; Cheng, Y.; Shao, L.; Liu, X.; Jiang, R.; Wu, S. Structural and Functional Dysbiosis of Fecal Microbiota in Chinese Patients With Alzheimer's Disease. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* 2021, *8*, 634069. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2020.634069.
- (100) Xu, K.; Dai, X.-L.; Huang, H.-C.; Jiang, Z.-F. Targeting HDACs: A Promising Therapy for Alzheimer's Disease. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity 2011, 2011, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1155/2011/143269.
- (101) Berni Canani, R.; Di Costanzo, M.; Leone, L. The Epigenetic Effects of Butyrate: Potential Therapeutic Implications for Clinical Practice. *Clin Epigenet* 2012, 4 (1), 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/1868-7083-4-4.
- (102) Kassan, M.; Kwon, Y.; Munkhsaikhan, U.; Sahyoun, A. M.; Ishrat, T.; Galán, M.; Gonzalez, A. A.; Abidi, A. H.; Kassan, A.; Ait-Aissa, K. Protective Role of Short-Chain Fatty Acids against Ang-II-Induced Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Brain Endothelial Cells: A Potential Role of Heme Oxygenase 2. Antioxidants 2023, 12 (1), 160. https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox12010160.
- (103) Qin, Q.; Yan, S.; Yang, Y.; Chen, J.; Li, T.; Gao, X.; Yan, H.; Wang, Y.; Wang, J.; Wang, S.; Ding, S. A Metagenome-Wide Association Study of the Gut Microbiome and Metabolic Syndrome. *Front. Microbiol.* 2021, *12*, 682721. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2021.682721.
- (104) Colombo, A. V.; Sadler, R. K.; Llovera, G.; Singh, V.; Roth, S.; Heindl, S.; Sebastian Monasor, L.; Verhoeven, A.; Peters, F.; Parhizkar, S.; Kamp, F.; Gomez De Aguero, M.; MacPherson, A. J.; Winkler, E.; Herms, J.; Benakis, C.; Dichgans, M.; Steiner, H.; Giera, M.; Haass, C.; Tahirovic, S.; Liesz, A. Microbiota-Derived Short Chain Fatty Acids Modulate Microglia and Promote Aβ Plaque Deposition. *eLife* **2021**, *10*, e59826. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.59826.
- (105) Daniels, B. P.; Cruz-Orengo, L.; Pasieka, T. J.; Couraud, P.-O.; Romero, I. A.; Weksler, B.; Cooper, J. A.; Doering, T. L.; Klein, R. S. Immortalized Human Cerebral Microvascular Endothelial Cells Maintain the Properties of Primary Cells in an in Vitro Model of Immune Migration across the Blood Brain Barrier. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods* 2013, *212* (1), 173–179. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneumeth.2012.10.001.
- (106) Kobayashi, S.; Tanaka, Y.; Kiyono, M.; Chino, M.; Chikuma, T.; Hoshi, K.; Ikeshima, H. Dependence pH and Proposed Mechanism for Aggregation of Alzheimer's Disease-Related Amyloid-β(1–42) Protein. *Journal of Molecular Structure* 2015, *1094*, 109–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molstruc.2015.03.023.

- (107) Wang, Z.; Sharda, N.; Omtri, R. S.; Li, L.; Kandimalla, K. K. Amyloid-Beta Peptides 40 and 42 Employ Distinct Molecular Pathways for Cell Entry and Intracellular Transit at the BBB Endothelium; preprint; Neuroscience, 2022. https://doi.org/10.1101/2022.11.17.516996.
- (108) Rojas-Gutierrez, E.; Muñoz-Arenas, G.; Treviño, S.; Espinosa, B.; Chávez, R.; Rojas, K.; Flores, G.; Díaz, A.; Guevara, J. Alzheimer's Disease and Metabolic Syndrome: A Link from Oxidative Stress and Inflammation to Neurodegeneration. *Synapse* **2017**, *71* (10). https://doi.org/10.1002/syn.21990.
- (109) Sinyor, B.; Mineo, J.; Ochner, C. N.; Christopher N. Ochner; Christopher N. Ochner. Alzheimer's Disease, Inflammation, and the Role of Antioxidants. *Journal of Alzheimer's disease reports* 2020, 4 (1), 175–183. https://doi.org/10.3233/adr-200171.
- (110) Hernández-Contreras, K. A.; M<sup>a</sup> Elena Hernández-Aguilar; Herrera-Covarrubias, D.; Rojas-Durán, F.; Aranda-Abreu, G. E. Alterations in Diabetes Mellitus Gene Expression in the Development and Progression of Alzheimer's Disease: The PI3K/Akt Pathway Link. *Revista Mexicana de Neurociencia* 2021, 22 (5). https://doi.org/10.24875/rmn.20000087.
- (111) Schiöth, H. B.; Craft, S.; Brooks, S. J.; Frey, W. H.; Benedict, C. Brain Insulin Signaling and Alzheimer's Disease: Current Evidence and Future Directions. *Molecular Neurobiology* 2012, 46 (1), 4–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-011-8229-6.
- (112) H Yaribeygi; M Maleki; AE Butler; T Jamialahmadi; A Sahebkar. Brain Insulin Signaling and Cognition: Possible Links. *EXCLI journal* **2023**. https://doi.org/10.17179/excli2023-5841.
- (113) Hu, Q.; Manaenko, A. Blood-Brain Barrier Dysfunction in Cerebrovascular Diseases. CN 2020, 18
   (12), 1166–1167. https://doi.org/10.2174/1570159X1812201102145717.
- (114) Chen, G.; Xu, T.; Yan, Y.; Zhou, Y.; Jiang, Y.; Melcher, K.; Xu, H. E. Amyloid Beta: Structure, Biology and Structure-Based Therapeutic Development. *Acta Pharmacol Sin* **2017**, *38* (9), 1205–1235. https://doi.org/10.1038/aps.2017.28.
- (115) Sara Mahdiabadi; Momtazmanesh, S.; Perry, G.; Perry, G.; Rezaei, N. Immune Modulations and Immunotherapies for Alzheimer's Disease: A Comprehensive Review. *Reviews in The Neurosciences* **2021**. https://doi.org/10.1515/revneuro-2021-0092.
- (116) Bevan S. Main; Main, B. S.; Minter, M. R. Microbial Immuno-Communication in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Frontiers in Neuroscience* **2017**, *11*, 151–151. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2017.00151.
- (117) Nizami, S.; Hall-Roberts, H.; Sharat Warrier; Warrier, S.; Cowley, S. A.; Elena Di Daniel; Di Daniel, E. Microglial Inflammation and Phagocytosis in Alzheimer's Disease: Potential Therapeutic Targets. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 2019, *176* (18), 3515–3532. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.14618.
- (118) Akhtar, A.; Sah, S. P. Insulin Signaling Pathway and Related Molecules: Role in Neurodegeneration and Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurochemistry International* **2020**, *135*, 104707. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuint.2020.104707.
- (119) Chen, Y.; Zhang, J.; Zhang, B.; Gong, C.-X.; Gong, C.-X. Targeting Insulin Signaling for the Treatment of Alzheimer's Disease. *Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry* **2015**, *16* (5), 485–492. https://doi.org/10.2174/1568026615666150813142423.
- (120) Lee, J. H.; Jahrling, J. B.; Denner, L.; Dineley, K. T. Targeting Insulin for Alzheimer's Disease: Mechanisms, Status and Potential Directions. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* **2018**, *64*. https://doi.org/10.3233/jad-179923.

- (121) Qian, X.; Xie, R.; Liu, X.; Chen, S.; Tang, H. Mechanisms of Short-Chain Fatty Acids Derived from Gut Microbiota in Alzheimer's Disease. *Aging and disease* **2022**, *13* (4), 1252. https://doi.org/10.14336/AD.2021.1215.
- (122) Pistollato, F.; Cano, S. S.; Sumalla Cano S; Elio, I.; Elio I; Masias Vergara M; Vergara, M. M.; Giampieri, F.; Simal-Gandara, J.; Battino, M. Role of Gut Microbiota and Nutrients in Amyloid Formation and Pathogenesis of Alzheimer Disease. *Nutrition Reviews* **2016**, *74* (10), 624–634. https://doi.org/10.1093/nutrit/nuw023.
- (123) Kim, S. Y.; Chae, C. W.; Lee, H. J.; Jung, Y. H.; Choi, G. E.; Kim, J. S.; Lim, J. R.; Lee, J. E.; Cho, J. H.; Park, H.; Park, C.; Han, H. J. Sodium Butyrate Inhibits High Cholesterol-Induced Neuronal Amyloidogenesis by Modulating NRF2 Stabilization-Mediated ROS Levels: Involvement of NOX2 and SOD1. *Cell Death Dis* **2020**, *11* (6), 469. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-020-2663-1.
- (124) Andrea McGrattan; Christopher J. Stewart; Aedín Cassidy; Jayne V. Woodside; Claire T. McEvoy. Diet Patterns, the Gut Microbiome, and Alzheimer's Disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 2022, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3233/jad-220205.
- (125) Ghosh, T. S.; Rampelli, S.; Jeffery, I. B.; Santoro, A.; Neto, M.; Capri, M.; Giampieri, E.; Jennings, A.; Candela, M.; Turroni, S.; Zoetendal, E. G.; Hermes, G. D. A.; Elodie, C.; Meunier, N.; Brugere, C. M.; Pujos-Guillot, E.; Berendsen, A. M.; De Groot, L. C. P. G. M.; Feskins, E. J. M.; Kaluza, J.; Pietruszka, B.; Bielak, M. J.; Comte, B.; Maijo-Ferre, M.; Nicoletti, C.; De Vos, W. M.; Fairweather-Tait, S.; Cassidy, A.; Brigidi, P.; Franceschi, C.; O'Toole, P. W. Mediterranean Diet Intervention Alters the Gut Microbiome in Older People Reducing Frailty and Improving Health Status: The NU-AGE 1-Year Dietary Intervention across Five European Countries. *Gut* 2020, *69* (7), 1218–1228. https://doi.org/10.1136/gutjnl-2019-319654.
- (126) Pagakrong Wanapaisan; Mallika Chuansangeam; Saifon Nopnipa; Rubwad Mathuranyanon; Nutthawan Nonthabenjawan; Ngamsombat, C.; Thientunyakit, T.; Muangpaisan, W. Association between Gut Microbiota with Mild Cognitive Impairment and Alzheimer's Disease in a Thai Population. *Neurodegenerative Diseases* 2022. https://doi.org/10.1159/000526947.
- (127) Askarova, S.; Umbayev, B.; Masoud, A.-R.; Kaiyrlykyzy, A.; Safarova, Y.; Tsoy, A.; Olzhayev, F.; Kushugulova, A. The Links Between the Gut Microbiome, Aging, Modern Lifestyle and Alzheimer's Disease. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 2020, 10, 104. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2020.00104.
- (128) Kincaid, H. J.; Nagpal, R.; Yadav, H. Diet-Microbiota-Brain Axis in Alzheimer's Disease. *Ann Nutr Metab* **2021**, *77* (Suppl. 2), 21–27. https://doi.org/10.1159/000515700.
- (129) Susan Ettinger. Diet, Gut Microbiome, and Cognitive Decline. *Current Nutrition Reports* **2022**. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13668-022-00435-y.
- (130) Modasia, A. A. Regulation of Enteroendocrine Networks and Mediation of Gut-Brain Communication By.
- (131) Westfall, S.; Lomis, N.; Kahouli, I.; Dia, S. Y.; Singh, S. P.; Prakash, S. Microbiome, Probiotics and Neurodegenerative Diseases: Deciphering the Gut Brain Axis. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 2017, 74 (20), 3769–3787. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-017-2550-9.
- (132) Chriett, S.; Dąbek, A.; Wojtala, M.; Vidal, H.; Balcerczyk, A.; Pirola, L. Prominent Action of Butyrate over β-Hydroxybutyrate as Histone Deacetylase Inhibitor, Transcriptional Modulator and Anti-Inflammatory Molecule. *Sci Rep* **2019**, *9* (1), 742. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-36941-9.
- (133) Kowalski, K.; Mulak, A. Brain-Gut-Microbiota Axis in Alzheimer's Disease. *J Neurogastroenterol Motil* **2019**, *25* (1), 48–60. https://doi.org/10.5056/jnm18087.

- (134) M Zerdan Bou; E Hebbo; A Hijazi; M Gemayel El; J Nasr; D Nasr; M Yaghi; Y Bouferraa; A Nagarajan. The Gut Microbiome and Alzheimer's Disease: A Growing Relationship. *Current Alzheimer research* 2022. https://doi.org/10.2174/1567205020666221227090125.
- (135) Fernando, W. M. A. D. B.; Martins, I. J.; Morici, M.; Bharadwaj, P.; Rainey-Smith, S. R.; Lim, W. L. F.; Martins, R. N. Sodium Butyrate Reduces Brain Amyloid-β Levels and Improves Cognitive Memory Performance in an Alzheimer's Disease Transgenic Mouse Model at an Early Disease Stage. JAD 2020, 74 (1), 91–99. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-190120.
- (136) Sun, J.; Yuan, B.; Wu, Y.; Gong, Y.; Guo, W.; Fu, S.; Luan, Y.; Wang, W. Sodium Butyrate Protects N2a Cells against A *θ* Toxicity In Vitro. *Mediators of Inflammation* **2020**, 2020, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/7605160.
- (137) Hurst, R. Butyric Acid Mediated Induction of Enhanced Transendothelial Resistance in an in Vitro Model Blood–Brain Barrier System. *Neurochemistry International* **1999**, *35* (3), 261–267. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0197-0186(99)00069-8.
- (138) Vijayasree V Giridharan; Carlos E Barichello de Quevedo; Fabricia Petronilho. Microbiota-Gut-Brain Axis in the Alzheimer's Disease Pathology - an Overview. *Neuroscience Research* **2022**. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neures.2022.05.003.
- (139) Singh, V.; Lee, G.; Son, H.; Koh, H.; Kim, E. S.; Unno, T.; Shin, J.-H. Butyrate Producers, "The Sentinel of Gut": Their Intestinal Significance with and beyond Butyrate, and Prospective Use as Microbial Therapeutics. *Front. Microbiol.* **2023**, *13*, 1103836. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2022.1103836.
- (140) N Molinero; A Antón-Fernández; F Hernández; J Ávila; B Bartolomé; MV Moreno-Arribas. Gut Microbiota, an Additional Hallmark of Human Aging and Neurodegeneration. *Neuroscience* 2023. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2023.02.014.
- (141) Mohamed, L. A.; Keller, J. N.; Kaddoumi, A. Role of P-Glycoprotein in Mediating Rivastigmine Effect on Amyloid-β Brain Load and Related Pathology in Alzheimer's Disease Mouse Model. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis of Disease* **2016**, *1862* (4), 778–787. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2016.01.013.
- (142) Huang, Q.; Zhong, W.; Hu, Z.; Tang, X. A Review of the Role of Cav-1 in Neuropathology and Neural Recovery after Ischemic Stroke. J Neuroinflammation 2018, 15 (1), 348. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-018-1387-y.

ProQuest Number: 30991430

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality and completeness of this reproduction is dependent on the quality and completeness of the copy made available to ProQuest.



Distributed by ProQuest LLC (2024). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author unless otherwise noted.

This work may be used in accordance with the terms of the Creative Commons license or other rights statement, as indicated in the copyright statement or in the metadata associated with this work. Unless otherwise specified in the copyright statement or the metadata, all rights are reserved by the copyright holder.

> This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code and other applicable copyright laws.

Microform Edition where available © ProQuest LLC. No reproduction or digitization of the Microform Edition is authorized without permission of ProQuest LLC.

ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 - 1346 USA